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Preface  

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act and the Fiscal 
Planning and Transparency Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of the Government of Alberta 
and the annual reports of each ministry. 

On October 24, 2022, the government announced new ministry structures. As such, the responsibilities of the 

Search and Rescue program in the Office of the Fire Commissioner and the Alberta Emergency Management 

Agency from the Ministry of Municipal Affairs were transferred to the Ministry of Public Safety and 

Emergency Services. The 2022-23 Annual Report reflects the 2022-25 ministry business plans, the 

Government of Alberta Strategic Plan, as well as the ministry’s activities and accomplishments during the 

2022-23 fiscal year, which ended on March 31, 2023.  

The annual report of the Government of Alberta contains Budget 2022 key results, the audited Consolidated 

Financial Statements and Performance Results, which compares actual performance results to desired results 

set out in the government’s strategic plan. 

This annual report of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs contains the Minister’s Accountability Statement, the 

ministry’s Financial Information and Results Analysis, and a comparison of actual performance results to 

desired results set out in the ministry business plan. This ministry annual report also includes: 

• the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including the provincial agencies for which the 
minister is responsible; 

• other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and Fiscal Planning and 
Transparency Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the ministry has anything to report; and 

• financial information relating to trust funds. 

All ministry annual reports should be considered along with the Government of Alberta Annual Report to 
provide a complete overview of government’s commitment to openness, accountability and fiscal 
transparency. 
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Minister’s Accountability Statement  

The ministry’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2023, was prepared under my direction in 
accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the government’s accounting policies. All of the 
government’s policy decisions as at June 8, 2023 with material economic or fiscal implications of which I am 
aware have been considered in the preparation of this report.  

(Original signed by) 
 

Ric McIver  

Minister of Municipal Affairs 
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Message from the Minister  

It is a true privilege to be returning as the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs. Ever since my time as an elected 
official in Calgary, I have been passionate about 
municipal issues, and I look forward to continuing 
the excellent progress made in this department over 
the past year.  

Reflecting on the endeavours of Municipal Affairs 
and its partners, I am pleased to recognize the 
tremendous work that’s been undertaken in securing 
Alberta’s future. Together we took meaningful steps 
to address challenges and further our strategic 
commitments outlined in our ministry’s business 
plan. These achievements are detailed in the 
Municipal Affairs 2022-23 Annual Report. 

Whether it’s the ongoing work to improve our 
legislative oversight, the significant funding provided 
to municipalities, or the consistent guidance that 

helps local governments carry out their duties with expertise using effective tools, we have made 
great strides toward the overall goal of building better, more resilient communities in Alberta. 

Through the Municipal Accountability Program, municipal inspections and reviews, and red tape 
reduction initiatives, we are helping to create more fiscally responsible, efficient, and accountable 
local governments. 

By fostering collaboration through the Alberta Community Partnership program and conducting a 
review of regional growth management boards, we are helping to enhance municipal service delivery 
and partnership. 

We are also supporting Alberta communities as they tackle local infrastructure priorities with 
significant capital funding from the Municipal Sustainability Initiative. At the same time, we continue 
our work transitioning to the Local Government Fiscal Framework that will provide sustainable and 
consistent funding for municipalities and enable them to share fully in Alberta’s prosperity. 

On another front, we have taken additional steps to ensure the financial health of municipalities by 
working together with Alberta Energy to implement a new directive to the Alberta Energy Regulator 
that will help address unpaid oil and gas property taxes. 

We also recognize that sometimes small adjustments can result in big improvements. We did just that 
by simplifying application forms and modernizing the processes and technology used to ensure fair 
and timely decisions by the Land and Property Rights Tribunal. These changes will ultimately 
strengthen landowner rights. 

In terms of enhancing public safety, we made thoughtful decisions to update our building codes in 
ways that make sense for Alberta while protecting our provincial jurisdiction. These changes, when 
adopted, will help keep Albertans safe while also supporting housing affordability, advancing energy 
efficiency and fostering economic growth. 
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Our focus on safety extends to fire services, with grant funding in place to support training for local 
fire departments to be prepared to respond to emergencies safely and effectively, protecting 
themselves and the residents they serve as they do their difficult and dangerous jobs. 

These are just a few examples of the wide and diverse range of responsibilities that fall under Alberta 
Municipal Affairs. I invite you to read more about these accomplishments and others detailed in this 
report. 

It is with pride and optimism that I share the work that continues to foster stronger, safer Alberta 
communities that contribute to greater economic prosperity for all Albertans. 

 
(Original signed by) 

 
Ric McIver 

Minister of Municipal Affairs  
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs includes the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes 
Council. The ministry also includes the Special Areas Board and six improvement districts, which are 
accountable to the Minister. A seventh improvement district, the Kananaskis Improvement District, is 
administered by the Ministry of Forestry and Parks.  

The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the 
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, and the Land and Property 
Rights Tribunal.  

The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and accountability 
for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies with all relevant 
legislation, regulations and policies. 

Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management information are 
integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly reports and other financial and 
performance reporting. 

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information and 
performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Municipal Affairs. Under the direction of the 
Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, which includes the financial information, 
performance results on all objectives and initiatives identified in the Ministry Business Plan, and performance 
results for all ministry-supported commitments that were included in the 2022-25 Government of Alberta 
Strategic Plan. The financial information and performance results, out of necessity, include amounts that are 
based on estimates and judgments. The financial information is prepared using the government’s stated 
accounting policies, which are based on Canadian public sector accounting standards. The performance 
measures are prepared in accordance with the following criteria: 

• Reliable – information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees with the underlying 
source data for the current and prior years’ results.  

• Understandable – the performance measure methodologies and results are presented clearly. 

• Comparable – the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied consistently for the 
current and prior years’ results.  

• Complete – outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included in the ministry’s 
Budget 2022. 

As Deputy Minister, in addition to program responsibilities, I am responsible for the ministry’s financial 
administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial management and internal 
control which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are designed to: 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in accordance with 
prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to maintain accountability of public 
money; 

• provide information to manage and report on performance; 

• safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration; 
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• provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs the information needed to fulfill their responsibilities; and 

• facilitate preparation of ministry business plans and annual reports required under the Fiscal Planning and 
Transparency Act. 

In fulfilling my responsibilities, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the individual entities within 
the ministry.  

(Original signed by) 

Brandy Cox 
Deputy Minister of Municipal Affairs 
 

June 8, 2023  
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Ministry Overview  
 

Organizational Structure 

 

Operational Overview 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs   

Municipal Affairs assists municipalities in providing well-managed, accountable local government to 
Albertans. The ministry also fosters stronger, safer communities across the province, and enables local 
governments to facilitate Alberta’s economic prosperity. 

The ministry consists of the Department of Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes Council. The ministry 
also includes the Special Areas Board and six improvement districts, which are accountable to the Minister.  

The Department of Municipal Affairs consists of the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division, the 
Municipal Services Division, the Technical and Corporate Services Division, and the Land and Property 
Rights Tribunal. 

Department of Municipal Affairs  

Municipal Assessment and Grants Division  
The Municipal Assessment and Grants Division develops policies and procedures for property assessment; 
reviews and audits municipal property assessments; and prepares designated industrial property assessments, 
composed of linear and industrial properties, for all municipalities.  

The division also administers the Municipal Sustainability Initiative and federal Canada Community-Building 
Fund, along with other grant programs; develops new grant programs such as the Local Government Fiscal 
Framework; prepares equalized assessments for each municipality; and administers the education property tax 
requisition on behalf of the province. 

Municipal Services Division 
The Municipal Services Division supports municipalities in meeting their mandate to provide accountable and 
effective local government to Albertans. The division provides support services and advice to municipalities 
in line with the ministry’s Municipal Sustainability Strategy; manages the ministry’s primary legislation 
governing municipalities – including the Municipal Government Act, Local Authorities Election Act, and Special 
Areas Act and their associated regulations; leads policy initiatives relating to municipal provincial relations; and 
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coordinates the ministry’s stakeholder relations with key municipal associations at major conferences and 
regional meetings.  

The division includes the Public Library Services Branch, which administers the Libraries Act, supports the 
province-wide Public Library Network in the provision of library services, and provides operating funding to 
municipal and regional library system boards. Funding enables municipal and regional libraries to share 
physical and electronic library resources across the province, with the goal of equitable library access for all 
Alberta residents, including Indigenous populations and print-disabled Albertans.  

Technical and Corporate Services Division 
The Technical and Corporate Services Division oversees the provincial safety codes and standards system, 
provides guidance and advice to safety codes system partners, administers the Residential Protection 
Program, and provides corporate support to the Department of Municipal Affairs. 

The division administers the Safety Codes Act, which establishes a unifying framework in 10 safety disciplines 
that allows for the adoption of codes and provision of permit, inspection and compliance services. The 
Residential Protection Program is responsible for overseeing and enforcing the New Home Buyer Protection Act, 
which establishes regulatory requirements for mandatory new home warranties and builder licensing. 

To support the safety codes system, the division oversees the Safety Codes Council, the Alberta Boilers Safety 
Association, and the Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association.  

The division includes the Corporate Strategic Services Branch, which is responsible for the ministry’s non-
financial corporate functions, including planning and reporting, coordinating ministry involvement in cross-
government policy initiatives, red tape reduction monitoring, legislative administration, and Indigenous 
consultation matters.  

Land and Property Rights Tribunal 
The Land and Property Rights Tribunal delivers fair, impartial, and well-reasoned decisions and 
recommendations on matters such as designated industrial property assessment, commercial and multi-
residential property assessment, subdivision appeals, development appeals, and annexations. The tribunal 
grants right of entry and resolves compensation disputes involving expropriation and surface rights matters. 
The tribunal also provides parties with a pre-hearing process to help resolve disputes prior to a formal 
hearing. Finally, the tribunal supports municipalities by providing certification training for board members 
and clerks for assessment review boards and subdivision and development appeal boards across Alberta. 

Support Services  

Financial Services  
Financial Services is responsible for coordinating the budget, forecast, and financial reporting for the 
ministry. Its responsibilities also include oversight and guidance on financial internal controls, expenditure 
officers, and contracting.  

Human Resources Services  
Human Resources Services – provided by the Public Service Commission – plans, develops, and delivers the 
department’s strategic human resource programs, as well as day-to-day human resource services. Its 
responsibilities include promoting strategic planning in alignment with business goals and objectives, 
supporting the attraction and engagement of high-calibre staff, and building employee capacity to achieve 
business plan goals.  
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Legal Services   
Legal Services is a resource provided by the Ministry of Justice that delivers legal services to the ministry’s 
divisions and associated boards. Its responsibilities include reviewing legislation and regulations, offering legal 
advice and written opinions, and preparing and reviewing legal documents.  

Communications    
Communications is a resource provided by Communications and Public Engagement in the Ministry of 
Treasury Board and Finance. It provides strategic communications advice, consulting services, and planning 
and support to the Minister, Deputy Minister, and ministry staff to communicate effectively with 
stakeholders, the media, and Albertans. Communications also provides issues management, writing and 
editing, and media relations services.  

Other Entities   

Safety Codes Council  
The Safety Codes Council is a corporation established under the Safety Codes Act. The council’s responsibilities 
include:  

• working with industry, municipalities, and other stakeholders through technical sub-councils to review 
codes and standards and advise the Minister on matters regulated by the Safety Codes Act; 

• administering accreditation activities, including accrediting municipalities, regional services commissions, 
and corporations to administer the Safety Codes Act in their jurisdictions – and accrediting agencies that 
can provide safety codes officers to municipalities and corporations under contract; 

• overseeing permit and inspection activities, including for storage tank systems, in unaccredited 
municipalities through the Alberta Safety Codes Authority;  

• conducting certification activities, including training and certifying safety codes officers who enforce the 
Safety Codes Act, and certifying master electricians; and  

• administering an appeals process for decisions made under the Safety Codes Act. 

Special Areas Board  
The Special Areas Board, whose members are appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council is 
responsible for the administration of 2.5 million acres of public land in southeast Alberta and for the 
provision of municipal services to residents of this rural region. The board applies land-stewardship policies 
that are particularly suited to the sustainability of public lands in this ecologically fragile part of the province.  

Improvement Districts    
Municipal Affairs provides limited municipal services in six improvement districts, including: Waterton Lakes 
National Park; Banff National Park; Jasper National Park; Elk Island National Park; Wood Buffalo National 
Park; and Willmore Wilderness Park. The Government of Alberta, through Municipal Affairs, manages all 
local government functions – including the levy and collection of taxes – for the improvement districts, 
unless a local council has been elected. A seventh improvement district, the Kananaskis Improvement 
District, is administered by the Ministry of Forestry and Parks. 
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Delegated Administrative Organizations  
Alberta Boilers Safety Association  

The Alberta Boilers Safety Association administers and delivers safety programs related to boilers, pressure 
vessels, and pressure piping systems in Alberta. The association’s safety codes officers review and register 
designs, conduct inspections, and issue permits. The association also certifies pressure welders, inspectors, 
and power engineers for the operation of power or heating boilers.  

Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association  

The Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety Association administers and delivers safety 
programs related to elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger ropeways (such as ski lifts). The 
association’s safety codes officers review and register designs, conduct inspections, and issue permits.  
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Key Highlights in the Past Year  

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs fosters stronger, safer communities across the province, and enables local 
governments to facilitate Alberta’s economic prosperity. In 2022‑23, the ministry delivered on the 
commitments in its 2022‑25 business plan and continued its day‑to‑day operations to support Albertans, 
Alberta municipalities, and other stakeholders. The ministry provided infrastructure funding to support 
strategic investment in local projects that both stimulate economic recovery in the short-term and laid the 
foundations for long-term success, and provided ongoing support, training and educational opportunities to 
facilitate well-managed municipalities.  

Municipal Affairs delivered on its commitments by supporting the viability, safety, and strength of 
municipalities through a variety of programs and initiatives. 

• The Municipal Accountability Program, the municipal inspection process, and the annual Alberta 
Municipal Measurement Index continued to strengthen municipal accountability and transparency. The 
purpose of the Municipal Accountability Program is to assist municipalities in developing capacity 
through educating municipal administrators about the requirements established by the Municipal 
Government Act and actions they may need to take to comply with these requirements. The Municipal 
Measurement Index dashboard is a modular component of a web-based application that is updated 
nightly, providing Albertans with easy-to-access information about their communities. The dashboard 
allows citizens to review municipal performance across various parameters, as well as the ability to 
compare performance with other municipalities in the province. In 2022, Municipal Affairs increased 
transparency by allowing municipalities to comment directly on their past year’s performance. Ongoing 
reviews and improvements to these tools provides Albertans and their elected officials with the ability to 
easily and effectively understand, communicate, and share their results. 

• Through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative, the ministry continued to support Alberta’s 
municipalities with stable funding for capital projects. It is the province’s primary capital grant program 
for municipalities. In 2022-23, the ministry provided $486 million in capital funding to Alberta 
municipalities through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative, as well as $255 million through the federal 
Canada Community-Building Fund. These continued infrastructure investments support local decision-
making, sustain local jobs, and position Alberta’s communities to continue participating in future 
economic growth. In 2022-23, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative provided $29 million in operating 
grant funding to municipalities and Metis Settlements. This funding supports capacity-building activities 
to improve efficiency and effectiveness, municipal services, planning activities, and contributions to non-
profit organizations. Work continues on transitioning the Municipal Sustainability Initiative to the Local 
Government Fiscal Framework. In 2023-23. the ministry collaborated with municipal associations and 
other stakeholders on the program design and the allocation formula. 

• The Municipal Internship Program provides grants to municipalities and planning services agencies 
that participate as hosts to land-use planner, finance officer, or municipal administrator interns. Alberta’s 
Municipal Internship Program is one of the most comprehensive municipal internship programs in 
Canada, providing funding and capacity-building support to Alberta municipalities. Since 2002, more 
than 350 new post-secondary graduates have completed internships through the program, and about 60 
per cent of past participants are working in municipalities or other public sector careers. In 2022-23, the 
ministry provided $960,000 in grant funding to 15 municipalities and one intermunicipal planning 
services agency to cover the costs of hosting five administrator interns, four finance officer interns, and 
seven land-use planner interns.  

• The Alberta Community Partnership is a grant program that enables municipalities to advance local 
and regional priorities across the province in a cost-effective manner, including municipal regional 
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collaboration and capacity building initiatives. The budget for the 2022-23 Alberta Community 
Partnership program was $15.9 million (adjusted in-year to $16 million), with grants supporting projects 
under five main component streams: 

1. Intermunicipal Collaboration – a competitive grant program that provides funding to municipal 
partnerships pursuing regional approaches to service delivery.  

2. Strategic Initiatives, which includes support for growth management boards, organizations 
promoting municipal professional development, and projects of intermunicipal and strategic 
significance. 

3. Municipal Restructuring – a program that provides grants to municipalities undertaking viability 
reviews or restructuring activities, such as dissolution or amalgamation. 

4. Municipal Internship – this component provides grants to municipalities and planning services 
agencies that participate as hosts to land-use planner, finance officer, or municipal administrator 
interns. 

5. Mediation and Cooperative Processes – a program that provides grants to municipalities to support 
the resolution of intermunicipal conflict through dispute resolution alternatives and to develop 
processes and protocols to enhance municipal collaboration. 

• Municipal Affairs recognizes the important work done every day by firefighters and is committed to 
helping them perform their duties as they protect the public. While the provision of fire services is a 
municipal responsibility, the Government of Alberta recognizes that a strong provincial-municipal 
partnership is key to keeping Albertans safe. The Fire Services Training Program distributes grant 
funding to supplement training supports for fire departments across municipalities. A total of $500,000 a 
year in funding is provided throughout the province. In 2022-23, the ministry reviewed more than 70 
applications and disbursed funds to 63 successful applicants, including municipal fire services, such as 
cities, towns, villages, counties, and improvement districts, as well as First Nations. 

• In March 2022, the National Research Council of Canada published new editions of the national building, 
fire, and energy codes. Municipal Affairs conducted a review of the safety codes in collaboration with 
stakeholders to ensure the updated codes aligned with the best interests of Albertans. Alberta announced 
the decision to maintain the exclusion of large farm buildings. This preserves the affordability of the 
agricultural industry and protects jobs and the economy while maintaining public safety. The agricultural 
industry and the Rural Municipalities of Alberta support this decision. Adopting tier 1 as the minimum 
province-wide standard for energy efficiency in buildings and homes will allow Alberta to set a consistent 
framework for achieving higher levels of energy efficiency in housing and small buildings, while 
maintaining the affordability of homebuilding – with analysis indicating modest cost increases to the 
average home of 0 to 0.34 per cent. 

• The province continued work to address the unpaid oil and gas property tax issue within 
municipalities. To gain a better understanding of the issue, Municipal Affairs conducted a municipal 
survey in fall 2022, and published a summary to Alberta.ca (https://www.alberta.ca/unpaid-oil-and-gas-
property-taxes.aspx). The survey indicated that 378 companies owe about $220 million in unpaid taxes, of 
which $90 million has been written off and $130 million is still in arrears. Building on the analysis 
resulting from the survey, Municipal Affairs worked with Energy to support the Minister of Energy to 
issue a new directive to the Alberta Energy Regulator to make payment of municipal taxes a mandatory 
condition for the Alberta Energy Regulator to approve license transfers between oil and gas companies 
or to grant new licenses.  Municipal Affairs is supporting the implementation of the directive by 

https://www.alberta.ca/unpaid-oil-and-gas-property-taxes.aspx
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compiling and maintaining a list of companies with unpaid taxes for the Alberta Energy Regulator to 
reference. 

• The Land and Property Rights Tribunal continued to manage a high volume of appeals and 
applications with 5,409 received in 2022-23. The majority were filed under the Surface Rights Act by rural 
landowners to recover unpaid surface lease payments owing from oil and gas operators, resulting in the 
tribunal directing the Minister of Environment and Protected Areas to make $17,213,523 in landowner 
payments. The tribunal also made significant improvements to modernize and improve its processes 
including the implementation of robotic process automation software to expedite the intake of surface 
rights applications.  

• In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs completed 574,539 designated industrial property assessments for 
1,340 companies (referred to as assessed persons) with an assessed value of approximately $184 billion. 
This is an increase of $11.1 billion from last year’s assessment. The increase is a result of property 
inventory changes, newly added properties, removed properties, annual depreciation, and annual 
assessment-year modifier changes. A strong, stable assessment inventory provides municipalities with a 
consistent and reliable foundation for taxation. As assessment values rise, municipalities’ taxable bases 
increase, supporting the provision of municipal services.  

• In 2020, the Government of Alberta launched the Municipal Stimulus Program in response to the 
severe slowdown in economic activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. By 2021, $499 million in funding 
was committed toward capital infrastructure in municipalities and Metis Settlements across the province. 
Ninety-four municipalities and two Metis Settlements applied for and received time extensions until 
December 31, 2022, ensuring 169 projects could be completed within the time limits of the program. 

• In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs’ Public Library Services staff provided advice and guidance to the Village 
of Glendon and Frog Lake First Nation as they each formed new library boards. Public libraries or 
outreach services (collections or programs made available in a local community space where there is no 
permanent library) are now available on numerous First Nation reserves and Metis Settlements 
throughout the province. The Frog Lake First Nation and Fishing Lake Metis Settlement are also 
members of their local regional library systems.  

• The Grants in Place of Taxes program provides municipalities with grant funding equivalent to the 
municipal property taxes on properties the Crown owns or leases that are tax exempt under the Municipal 
Government Act. In 2022-23, the Grants in Place of Taxes program provided $30.8 million to 165 
municipalities for more than 5,100 Crown properties. This program provides municipalities with grant 
funding equivalent to the municipal property taxes on properties the Crown owns or leases and which 
would otherwise be tax exempt under the Municipal Government Act. The payment acknowledges that the 
Government of Alberta benefits from municipal services such as roads, snow clearing, transit, and 
emergency services. Examples of eligible properties include provincial buildings, courthouses, 
correctional institutions, and grazing reserves. The province pays a Grant in Place of Taxes to 
municipalities on behalf of 35 eligible seniors’ accommodation facilities. The Minister of Municipal 
Affairs has approved the continuation of Grants in Place of Taxes for these seniors’ facilities through the 
2024 taxation year. 
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Discussion and Analysis of Results 
 

Actions that Support the Priorities of the Government of Alberta Strategic Plan 

  

Municipal Affairs Actions that Support the Priorities of the Government of Alberta 
Strategic Plan, 2022-25 

Priority two: 
Growing Alberta’s economy 

Objective one: 
Attracting investment and growing the economy 
 
• Supporting economic stimulus efforts through the Municipal Sustainability Initiative (MSI), which will 

provide $970 million in capital funding to Alberta municipalities over the remaining two years of the 
program. These continued infrastructure investments will help sustain local jobs and position our 
communities to participate in future economic growth. Detailed reporting found on pages 44-46. 

• Maintaining property tax initiatives including a property tax holiday for all new well and pipeline assets 
until the 2024 tax year to encourage new investment in the oil and gas sector and support the 
continued viability of existing assets. Detailed reporting found on pages 23-24. 

• Investing $1.8 billion over three years toward priority infrastructure projects to promote economic 
growth, create jobs, clear transportation bottlenecks and reduce congestion in key trade and industrial 
corridors. Key projects underway include completing the ring road around Calgary, twinning 46 
kilometres of Highway 3, and the Airdrie interchange improvement project. In 2022-23 Alberta’s 
government is also investing $235 million in smaller projects to support local municipal roads, bridges 
and water/wastewater infrastructure. Detailed reporting found on pages 44-46. 

 

Priority three: 
Fiscal sustainability 

Objective one: 
Providing value for each tax dollar spent 
 
• Implementing the Local Government Fiscal Framework (LGFF) by 2024 to ensure Alberta’s 

communities can continue to seize opportunities for economic growth. The LGFF is a legislated 
program, which recognizes the essential role municipalities and local infrastructure play in supporting 
local businesses and creating local jobs. The LGFF will provide $722 million in capital funding in the 
first year, with future funding levels tied to changes in provincial revenues. Detailed reporting found on 
pages 46-47. 
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COVID-19/Recovery Plan 

 
Municipal Stimulus Program 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the government made significant investments in programs and 
strategies to respond to the evolving health emergency that supported Albertans and maintained the 
dynamism of Alberta’s economy. One such program was the Municipal Stimulus Program, which was 
launched in 2020, in response to the severe slowdown in economic activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
While $500 million was allocated, because 12 municipalities chose not to access any of their allocated 
Municipal Stimulus Program funding, only $499 million was committed by municipalities to accepted 
projects. Of the $499 million in committed funding, to date only five municipalities did not spend 100 per 
cent of their program funding with a total of $14,940 refunded to the province. 

The Municipal Stimulus Program was designed to fund capital projects constructed during 2020 and 2021, 
with the intent that the funding would be fully expended by December 31, 2021. However, many local 
governments faced challenges with completing projects, including supply chain disruptions, contractor 
availability, tendering issues, price escalations, municipal capacity issues, and delays with securing permit 
approvals.  

With the challenges posed in 2021, Municipal Affairs adapted the program rules to accommodate feedback 
received from local governments. Municipalities and Metis Settlements were allowed to request an extension 
for an additional year to complete projects, modify project scope (if rationale supported the change), or 
submit new projects to utilize surplus funds if project costs came in lower than anticipated. Ninety-four 
municipalities and two Metis Settlements applied for and received time extensions until December 31, 2022, 
for 169 projects. They are now required to submit project and financial reporting for 2022, which includes: 
total project costs, Municipal Stimulus Program funding expenditures, project status, confirmation of the 
resulting capital asset (i.e., kilometres of roads and/or metres of waterlines constructed) as a result of the 
grant funding received, and any unspent grant amount that would need to be returned to the province.  

Examples of projects that received time extensions to complete projects, modify project scope, or submit 
new projects to utilize surplus funds included: 

• the City of Chestermere’s Storm Water System Upgrades project, as heavy rain and extremely cold 
weather in 2021 forced the contractor to delay the project until spring 2022; 

• the Municipal District of Greenview, for its Joint Fire Training Facility project with the County of 
Grande Prairie, as the City of Grande Prairie joined the partnership and their fire services agreement 
needed to be amended; 

• Sturgeon County’s new municipally-owned broadband project, as significant supply chain issues forced 
them to withdraw their previously approved Villeneuve Landing Network Business Development Jobs 
Creation Centre project; 

• the Town of Three Hills Treated Water Reservoir Bypass Piping and Valve Installation project, as they 
could not complete site preparation and concrete work on the reservoir because of supply chain issues;  

• the Village of Bittern Lake was approved to use surplus funding to install culvert and drainage 
infrastructure between James Street and Bateson Street, as their Waterline Extension project was 
completed under budget; and 
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• the Summer Village of Ma-Me-O Beach, as it faced challenges securing contractors and materials to 
rehabilitate their records and archives building.  

Based on financial reporting received in 2022, the following is a sampling of Municipal Stimulus Program 
projects that were successfully completed: 

• The City of Grande Prairie constructed a parks maintenance storage building, upgraded 103 Avenue, 
improved crosswalks, and rehabilitated local roads. These four projects created local jobs for contractors 
and designers, and encouraged economic growth. Total Municipal Stimulus Program funding spent on 
the projects was $5,876,069. The city’s remaining storm infrastructure project was approved for a time 
extension to December 31, 2022. 

• Lac Ste. Anne County rehabilitated nine kilometres of roadways, including drainage improvements. The 
project improved roadway conditions and road safety, and created local jobs. Total Municipal Stimulus 
Program funding spent was $1,295,000. 

• The Town of Coaldale installed four traffic control signal lights and upgraded roads and utilities. This 
work facilitated growth, expansion, and development in West Coaldale for residential, commercial, and 
municipal development. Total Municipal Stimulus Program funding spent was $1,033,091. 

• The Village of Empress replaced a water tower and extended water and wastewater servicing to new 
residential and commercial properties. The work enabled the community to participate in economic 
growth, and ensured clean drinking water and additional services. Total Municipal Stimulus Program 
funding spent was $50,000. 

Auditor’s Report on Municipal Operating Support Transfer and Municipal Stimulus Program 
COVID-19 Response Programs 

In December 2022, the Auditor General released audit results for COVID-19 response programs, including 
the Municipal Operating Support Transfer and the Municipal Stimulus Program. The objective of the audit 
was to determine whether Municipal Affairs had effective systems to design, deliver, monitor, and report on 
these programs. The audit was comprehensive and found that Municipal Affairs: 

• met all criteria related to having effective and efficient systems to design programs that aligned with the 
government’s strategic objectives and goals;  

• had effective and efficient systems to deliver the programs;  

• had effective systems to monitor the delivery of the programs and to identify opportunities for 
improvements; and  

• effectively used existing systems and processes to design, deliver and monitor its COVID-19 recovery 
programs.  

The Auditor General’s findings, taken in conjunction with the short timeframes under which these programs 
were required to be developed and launched, speak to the effectiveness of grant program design and delivery 
practices within Municipal Affairs. 

The Auditor General did not reach a conclusion on whether the department was able to analyze and report 
on program results in a timely manner. An evaluation of the Municipal Operating Support Transfer was 
underway at the time of the audit, and results were not available before the audit was concluded. The 
Municipal Stimulus Program was still active at the time of the audit, so it was not possible to analyze and 
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report on this program’s results. An outcomes-focused evaluation of the Municipal Stimulus Program will be 
undertaken when all project reporting is complete. 

The Municipal Operating Support Transfer evaluation, which was completed in 2022, was primarily a process 
evaluation, with the purpose of assessing the success of program development and delivery, and identifying 
areas that could be improved on if a program should need to be developed under similar circumstances in the 
future. Outcome (or impact) evaluation was out of scope because the program lasted only one year. 

Suggestions for future improvements included: providing more detailed guidelines with specific examples of 
eligible projects or expenditures; identifying secondary teams for both program development and delivery, in 
case the original plan does not work; developing a checklist of items to consider in program development to 
ensure nothing is inadvertently missed during a rapid development process; and developing a framework for 
collaboration on grant program development to ensure all necessary participants can be identified as quickly 
as possible.  
 
Municipal Government (Face Mask and Proof of COVID-19 Vaccination Bylaws) Amendment Act, 
2022 

The Municipal Government (Face Mask and Proof of COVID-19 Vaccination Bylaws) Amendment Act, 2022, received 
Royal Assent on April 21, 2022. These amendments were intended to ensure COVID-19 health policies were 
clear and consistent for all Albertans. The Act: 

• requires municipalities to get approval from the Minister of Municipal Affairs before enacting masking or 
proof of COVID-19 vaccination/negative test bylaws that would impact private sector operators such as 
grocery stores or shopping malls; local governments would still have authority to implement these bylaws 
for municipal facilities like recreation centres or public transit; and  

• ensures the Minister consults Alberta’s Chief Medical Officer of Health before making a decision on any 
such bylaws. 
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Red Tape Reduction 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs remains committed to regulatory approaches and program delivery that 
reduces unnecessary government oversight and emphasizes outcomes, in order to improve access to 
government services, attract investment, support innovation and competitiveness, and grow Alberta 
businesses. 

Municipal Affairs continued to reduce red tape in 2022-23, by reviewing program policies and forms to 
identify opportunities for streamlining, including eliminating unnecessary requirements and consolidating 
redundant forms. The Municipal Assessment and Grants Division eliminated 126 regulatory requirements by 
updating and consolidating several forms, and the Land and Property Rights Tribunal streamlined appeal 
forms, thereby eliminating 245 regulatory requirements. 

As a condition of the Municipal Stimulus Program, municipalities were required to submit red tape reduction 
reports in addition to reporting on project expenditures. In 2022, municipalities were asked to report on their 
progress on reducing red tape in 2021 in the following areas: making it easier to start a new business; 
streamlining processes and shortening timelines for development and subdivision permit approvals; and 
attracting new investment and/or tourism. 

The Red Tape Reduction Statutes Amendment Act, 2022, received Royal Assent on May 31, 2022. The Act 
supports local government accountability, improves legislative clarity, and makes governance provisions easier 
to read. Specifically, while municipalities are always encouraged to address viability challenges, these changes 
expand the actions the Minister may take to enforce compliance with ministerial viability review directives.  

Outcome One: Alberta’s local governments encourage and support 
economic prosperity 

Key Objectives 

1.1 Streamline regulatory requirements in municipal legislation for municipalities and industry in 
order to encourage economic growth and improve the efficiency and accountability of local 
government. 

Local Authorities Election Act Review  

The Local Authorities Election Act establishes the framework for local authorities to conduct their elections in 
the province, including municipalities, school boards, Metis Settlements, and irrigation districts. A number of 
concerns were raised by municipalities and electors in letters to the Minister during the October 2021 local 
election period regarding privacy of elector information, candidate eligibility, candidate disqualification, 
financial disclosure of issue-based third-party advertising, and election recounts. With this in mind, the 
ministry focused its engagement around the themes of enhancing candidate accountability, protecting 
electors, and strengthening democratic processes. 

Engagement sessions were held in summer 2022 with participation from municipal associations including 
Alberta Municipalities, Rural Municipalities of Alberta, Local Government Administration Association of 
Alberta, Alberta Rural Municipal Administrators’ Association, and the Alberta Municipal Clerks Association. 
In addition to these engagement sessions, an online public survey, which captured feedback from 910 
Albertans, was posted from June to July 2022.  

The ministry will continue to work toward bringing forward amendments to the Local Authorities Election Act 
that address the concerns raised around the 2021 election, prior to the next municipal general election in 
October 2025.  
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Municipal Government Act Assessment and Taxation Sections Review 

A review of the assessment and taxation sections of the Municipal Government Act was completed, and 
amendments to reduce red tape were included in the Red Tape Reduction Statutes Amendment Act, 2022 (Bill 21), 
which received Royal Assent on May 31, 2022.  

The Municipal Government Act was amended to allow Community Revitalization Levy bylaws to be approved by 
the Minister of Municipal Affairs, rather than by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. These bylaws include a 
detailed plan for revitalization in the Community Revitalization Levy area; having the Minister approve these 
plans will maintain government oversight while expediting approvals. The Lieutenant Governor in Council 
will still establish regulations for each Community Revitalization Levy area. 

The Municipal Government Act was also amended to elevate provisions, without change, from the Matters 
Relating to Assessment Subclasses Regulation into the Act, and to exempt urban farm buildings from 
assessment. As urban farm buildings are now fully exempt from taxation under the Matters Relating to 
Assessment and Taxation, 2018 regulation, this change means that the property assessment no longer needs 
to be prepared. These amendments will not come into force until consequential regulatory amendments are 
completed. This is expected to take place in 2023-24. 

The Lloydminster Charter 

The City of Lloydminster has the unique geographic distinction of straddling the Alberta-Saskatchewan 
border. It is incorporated as a city in both provinces, in accordance with the City of Lloydminster Act, which is 
identical in both Alberta and Saskatchewan. This Act establishes the legislative authority for the Lloydminster 
Charter to set out the municipal governance framework for the city. 

Between February 2021 and November 2022, Municipal Affairs engaged in a series of meetings with the 
Government of Saskatchewan, City of Lloydminster, and the Lloydminster public and separate school 
divisions to review and update the Lloydminster Charter. The amendments arising from these meetings better 
aligned the charter with municipal legislation in both provinces 
and addressed, where possible, the unique status of the city.  

Amendments to the Lloydminster Charter adopted provisions 
from Alberta’s Municipal Government Act to reduce red tape in 
areas related to financial administration, assessment, taxation, 
and business licensing. The amendments also ensured 
provisions in the charter regarding assessment, taxation, and 
assessment and taxation appeals are aligned with changes in the 
Municipal Government Act around designated industrial property, 
tax incentives and rates, property assessment review boards, and the Land and Property Rights Tribunal. 
Other updates included alignment of provisions related to council administration. 

Finally, the charter will promote regional cooperation by requiring the city to establish intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks and regional services commissions with neighbouring Alberta municipalities and 
allowing the city to join a regional service commission.  

The amended Lloydminster Charter was approved by both provinces in December 2022 and came into effect 
January 1, 2023. 

Straddling the Alberta-
Saskatchewan border, the City of 
Lloydminster is incorporated as a 
city in both provinces, in 
accordance with the City of 
Lloydminster Act, which is identical 
in both Alberta and Saskatchewan.  
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1.2 Work with municipalities to reduce municipal red tape and impediments to economic growth 
that may be a barrier to investment, to ensure that communities are well-positioned to support 
economic recovery. 

Municipal Stimulus Program  

To incentivize red tape reduction in municipalities, as a condition of the Municipal Stimulus Program, 
municipalities were required to submit red tape reduction reports in addition to reporting on project 
expenditures. This aligns with the steps the province is taking to reduce red tape and indicates a shared 
commitment to enhance the business and visitor economy in Alberta. In 2022, municipalities were asked to 
report on their progress on reducing red tape in 2021 in the following areas:  

• making it easier to start a new business; 

• streamlining processes and shortening timelines for development and subdivision permit approvals; and  

• attracting new investment and/or tourism.  

Red tape reduction reports submitted in 2022 provided information on steps municipalities had taken to 
reduce red tape in the previous year. In 2021-22, actions taken by municipalities to reduce red tape were split 
almost evenly between streamlining and shortening timelines for development and subdivision permit 
approvals (35 per cent), making it easier to start a new business (33 per cent), and attracting new investment 
and/or tourism (32 per cent).  

 

As in the previous year, municipalities focused their red tape reduction efforts on website development to 
increase functionality, reduce timelines, attract investment, and improve the user experience. Municipalities 
also continued to focus on internal processes and procedures to reduce operational and administrative 
timelines, increase the speed of economic development, and improve the experiences of residents and 
businesses. Several municipalities began, or continued, efforts to build and strengthen partnerships to 

Red Tape Reduction Activities Undertaken in 2021-22 
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generate valuable economic benefits and opportunities for residents. From municipal planning and 
development improvements, to forms and applications, municipalities looked to simplify complicated 
materials and remove barriers to attract investment in their communities. 

A full report on municipal red tape reduction efforts was published in March 2023 and is available at: 
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/municipal-red-tape-reduction-report. Red tape reduction reporting for 
the Municipal Stimulus Program is now complete. 

Red Tape Reduction Statutes Amendment Act, 2022 

The Red Tape Reduction Statutes Amendment Act, 2022, received Royal Assent on May 31, 2022. The Act 
supports local government accountability, improves legislative clarity, and makes governance provisions easier 
to read. Specifically, while municipalities are always encouraged to address viability challenges, these changes 
expand the actions the Minister may take to enforce compliance with ministerial viability review directives.  

This Act enhanced transparency and accessibility by enabling the use of electronic or other communications 
methods to conduct council meetings. This was temporarily permitted during the COVID-19 pandemic to 
ensure municipal councils could continue to hold meetings. With these changes, meetings held online 
continue to require public access including publicly available links to meeting documents to ensure all citizens 
who may wish to participate in council meetings have that opportunity. 

To align with Public Sector Accounting Standards and support accounting best practices, amendments were 
also made to financial provisions. This included updating definitions for several credit instruments, removing 
out-of-date terminology, and more clearly outlining required deadlines for adopting capital and operating 
budgets. Numerous amendments enhanced clarity, including an explicit authority for municipalities to 
establish intermunicipal business licences. While intermunicipal business licensing was previously permitted, 
these changes increase awareness by outlining the ability for municipalities to initiate licences in collaboration 
with other municipalities.  

While most municipal-related amendments in the Red Tape Reduction Statutes Amendment Act, 2022, apply to the 
Municipal Government Act, one significant change was made to the Local Authorities Election Act. Following the 
2021 general elections, post-election reporting requirements raised concerns regarding confidentiality of 
personal information. An immediate response was necessary to ensure the protection of personal 
information. With this change to the Local Authorities Election Act, municipalities and school boards are now 
required to redact the personal contact information of candidates and donors from candidate disclosure 
statements before they are made public.   

1.3 Work with industry and municipal stakeholders to modernize the assessment models for 
regulated property. 

Property Tax Incentives 

The assessment models for wells, pipelines, and wellsite machinery and equipment were last reviewed in 2020. 
However, the potential impacts of the proposed updates created significant stakeholder concerns. Concerns 
were also raised about the engagement process. As a result, the review was put on hold in late 2020, and no 
changes to the assessment models were implemented. Instead, government implemented measures to support 
economic recovery and provide certainty to industry, investors, municipalities, and other property taxpayers. 
These measures provided incentives for new investment in the oil and gas industry and promoted the 
continued viability of mature assets. The measures include:  
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• three year tax holiday for new wells and pipelines – beginning in the 2022 property tax year (2021 
assessment year), new wells and pipelines will not be subject to property taxation until the 2025 tax year. 
In 2022, this was the equivalent of approximately $12 million in municipal and education property taxes; 

• elimination of the the Well Drilling Equipment Tax – the tax rate was set to zero effective January 1, 
2021, and in 2022, this was the equivalent of about $45 million in forgone revenue if all municipalities 
with new wells had implemented a Well Drilling Equipment Tax bylaw;  

• shallow gas assessment reduction – the existing 35 per cent reduction to the assessment of shallow gas 
wells and associated pipelines was extended to the 2023 tax year, and in 2022, this was the equivalent of 
about $14 million in property tax; and  

• low productivty assessment reduction – additional depreciation adjustments on lower-producing wells 
were also implemented, with an approximate impact of $22 million in property tax in 2022.  

Assessment Model Review Stakeholder Engagement Kickoff 

At the same time as the property tax incentives were announced, Municipal Affairs committed to developing 
a long-term plan for reviews of Alberta’s regulated assessment system. 

In spring 2022, Cabinet approved renewed stakeholder engagement on Alberta’s regulated property 
assessment models. The initial step in the Assessment Model Review process was to establish a stakeholder 
steering committee to work with the department in co-designing a broader stakeholder engagement process 
and overall review plan.  

Stakeholders will have an opportunity to provide input on possible changes to:  

• the methodology for the regulated property assessment models; 

• assessment year modifiers; 

• the Construction Cost Reporting Guide; and  

• the process for regular updating in the future. 

The stakeholder steering committee was established in May 2022, and has been meeting monthly. Its 
membership includes associations representing industrial property owners, municipalities, and assessment 
practitioners. 

The committee’s engagement plan recommendations are expected in fall 2023.  

Designated Industrial Property Assessment  

Designated industrial property comprises two distinct categories. The first is linear property, such as wells and 
pipelines, electric power systems, telecommunications systems, cable television systems, electric power 
generation facilities, and railway properties. The second includes industrial properties such as the machinery 
and equipment at wells, refineries, oil sands projects, lumber facilities, pulp and paper mills, petrochemical 
properties, and any other property meeting the definition of designated industrial property in legislation.  

While linear property has long been assessed by the province, the assessment of all designated industrial 
property has been conducted by the Government of Alberta since 2018.  
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The benefits of the centralized assessment model are being realized through continued improvements in 
consistency, fairness, and transparency in the application of legislation.  

Designated industrial property assessment is carried out under the guidance and direction of the Provincial 
Assessor in Municipal Affairs. Industrial assessment is conducted using a service delivery approach of internal 
and contract assessors. As of the end of the 2022-23 fiscal year, all linear assessment continues to be done 
internally and 201 of 229 municipalities with non-linear industrial property are assessed by internal Municipal 
Affairs assessors. The remaining assessments (for 28 municipalities) are carried out by contracted resources 
under the guidance and supervision of the Provincial Assessor. These contracted resources include private 
assessment companies and municipal assessors. The ministry remains committed to working collaboratively 
with municipalities, taxpayers, and other stakeholders. An executive advisory group regularly brings together 
representatives from industry and municipal associations to share information and to seek advisory input.  

In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs completed 574,539 designated industrial property assessments for 1,340 
companies (referred to as assessed persons) with an assessed value of approximately $184 billion. This is an 
increase of $11.1 billion from last year’s assessment. The change is a result of property inventory changes, 
newly added properties, removed properties, annual depreciation, and annual assessment-year modifier 
changes.  

These assessments yield approximately $1.84 billion in municipal property taxes and $312 million in education 
property tax for the province. The ministry continues to meet its commitment of annually inspecting 20 per 
cent of all existing designated industrial property and 100 per cent of new properties. This inspection 
approach is consistent with the assessment profession standard.  

The assessment of designated industrial property is conducted on a full cost-recovery basis, which means the 
province recovers costs through a requisition tax rate set annually by the Minister. The requisition is charged 
by municipalities to designated industrial property owners on their property tax notice and then submitted to 
the province to recover program costs, which includes preparation of assessment and defending assessments 
before the Land and Property Rights Tribunal as required in case of an appeal. The 2022-23 requisition tax 
rate is $0.0746 per $1,000 of assessment, to recover $13.8 million for the program in the 2022-23 fiscal year.  

1.4 Reduce ministry red tape, and work to increase the effectiveness of ministry programs and 
legislation. 

Municipal Affairs continued reducing red tape in 2022-23, by reviewing program policies and forms to 
identify opportunities for streamlining. This included eliminating unnecessary requirements and consolidating 
redundant forms. Specific examples include:  

• the elimination of 126 regulatory requirements by the Municipal Assessment and Grants Division 
through the updating and consolidating of several forms; and  

• a comprehensive review and streamlining of appeal forms by the Land and Property Rights Tribunal that 
eliminated 245 regulatory requirements.  

The ministry ended the 2021-22 fiscal year at a reduction level that greatly exceeded its 20 per cent target. The 
ministry broadened its focus beyond initiatives that reduce regulatory requirements to pursue opportunities to 
reduce red tape in other ways, such as allowing programs and services to be accessed more efficiently and 
effectively – including grant applications, or launching an appeal with the Land and Property Rights Tribunal. 
These changes are expected to reduce costs for Alberta’s job creators, modernize regulatory systems, and 
improve the delivery and accessibility of government services  
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The ministry has diligently reviewed and reduced regulatory impediments. A review was performed to ensure 
all previous reductions were accurately captured, and the ministry continues to provide options, where 
possible, to reduce red tape. Part of this effort included a review of regulations under the Municipal Government 
Act, with a focus on regulations relating to planning, development, and growth management. 

Performance Measure 1.a: Red tape reduced across the ministry 

Municipal Affairs continued reducing red tape in 2022-23 and exceeded its four-year reduction target of 33 
per cent with an actual reduction of 33.7 per cent. 

On October 24, 2022, the government announced new ministry structures. As such, the Search and Rescue 
program in the Office of the Fire Commissioner, and the Alberta Emergency Management Agency were 
transferred from the Ministry of Municipal Affairs to the Ministry of Public Safety and Emergency Services. 
With this shift, the ministry’s baseline count of regulations and red tape decreased, as did its accumulated 
reductions. With those baseline numbers and counted reductions removed, the ministry still met and slightly 
exceeded its 2022-23 target. Reductions were the result of eliminating unnecessary requirements and 
consolidating redundant forms across the ministry’s divisions. Examples of streamlining occurred in areas 
including but not limited to applicant information requests, several public library reports, and completion of 
outstanding repeals and revisions.  

With the four-year reduction goal achieved, the focus in future years is expected to shift away from setting 
goals around regulatory requirement reductions to other red tape reduction opportunities, such as improving 

* The result for 2022-23 does not include the Alberta Emergency Management Agency, which moved to the Ministry of 
Public Safety and Emergency Services as part of the October 24, 2022, government restructuring. The baseline count of 
regulations and red tape and counted reductions associated with Search and Rescue and the Alberta Emergency 
Management Agency were adjusted accordingly.  
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Albertans’ access to programs and services. While red tape reduction remains a priority, this is the final year 
of this measure. 

Municipal Government Act Regulations 

A number of Municipal Government Act regulations were reviewed, resulting in nine regulations being 
consolidated into three. The Subdivision and Development Regulation, Subdivision and Development Appeal 
Board Regulation, and the Subdivision and Development Appeal Regulation were combined into the Matters 
Related to Subdivision and Development Regulation. The new Municipal Investment Regulation combined 
the provisions from the Investment Regulation, Major Cities Investment Regulation, Muni Funds Investment 
Regulation, and the MuniSERP Investment Regulation. Finally, the Debt Limit Regulation was amended to 
add provisions from the Regional Services Commission Debt Limit Regulation.  

Land and Property Rights Tribunal 

In 2022-23, the Land and Property Rights Tribunal continued to make strides to reduce red tape by reviewing 
and improving its appeal forms and online resources. Sometimes small changes can have an important 
impact. The tribunal’s efforts to update its website and combine and simplify its forms were specifically done 
with the goal of making the application process more user-friendly for Albertans. Another example is 
combining first year and returning recovery of compensation applications into one application form. This 
change has reduced instances of the incorrect form being submitted, which helps alleviate frustration with the 
application process and improve decision timelines. 
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Outcome Two: Albertans live in viable municipalities and communities with 
fiscally responsible, collaborative, and accountable local governments 

Key Objectives 

2.1 Enhance municipal service delivery through regional cooperation and growth management 
boards. 

Alberta benefited from an increase in economic activity due to higher than predicted oil prices and a shift to 
the endemic stage of COVID-19 in the 2022-23 fiscal year. These positive trends in the economy have been 
offset by inflationary pressures that are increasing the cost of living as well as the costs for municipalities to 
provide services and infrastructure. Albertans are relying on municipalities to continue to provide high quality 
services as well as build and maintain infrastructure in a financially prudent manner.  

Municipalities remain keenly aware of Alberta’s desirability as a place to live, work, and raise a family. They 
are also keenly aware of the importance of collaboration, especially when it comes to delivering services to 
their residents and their community. Growth management boards, intermunicipal collaboration frameworks, 
and intermunicipal development plans provide tools to facilitate long-term planning, cost-effective service 
delivery, and a way to moderate disputes, which can cause development delays and have significant economic 
costs.  

Municipal Affairs supports municipal collaboration to plan, deliver, and fund services in the best interests of 
residents, and these collaborations ensure sustainable and long-term service delivery, and opportunities for 
future growth. Mandating these plans and frameworks ensures that municipalities are collaborating in the best 
interests of citizens and businesses in the region. Further, provincial economic development opportunities are 
enhanced through coordinated land-use planning and development along municipal boundaries, and Alberta 
residents and businesses benefit from lower costs and increased service levels as municipalities find ways to 
better deliver their services.  

Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board/Calgary Metropolitan Region Board 

Growth management boards for the Calgary and Edmonton regions are forums for complex discussions 
regarding economic growth and long-term sustainability in the province’s largest metropolitan regions. The 
core mandate of growth management boards is land use, regional infrastructure, and service delivery planning 
to accommodate future population and economic growth. The boards are responsible for creating a stable, 
predictable environment to invest and compete with other large Canadian metropolitan regions. According to 
recent statistics, nearly 69 per cent of Albertans live within the Calgary and Edmonton growth management 
board boundaries. 

Prior to the establishment of the boards, there were significant numbers of intermunicipal disputes regarding 
development in these regions. These disputes often resulted in appeals to the Land and Property Rights 
Tribunal creating significant development delays. The growth management boards allow for discussions 
about how to work together as a region, in order to ensure sufficient land and servicing capacity that will 
accommodate residential, commercial, and industrial growth.  

A significant milestone for the Calgary Metropolitan Region Board was ministerial approval of the board’s 
first growth plan and servicing plan. These plans, which took effect August 15, 2022, will guide development 
and growth in the region. Areas of focus include compact and contiguous growth, reinforcing core urban 
areas, efficient and cost-effective use of infrastructure, and supporting rural growth while conserving 
agricultural land. Furthermore, the growth plan allows for small-scale residential and commercial 
development in rural areas without requiring approval of the board. The growth plan and servicing plan are 
the result of extensive consultation and collaboration among member municipalities, developers, and 
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landowners in the region. The board also adopted a dispute resolution and appeal mechanism in 2021, which 
enables board decisions to be appealed to the Land and Property Rights Tribunal. 

The Edmonton Metropolitan Region Board is guided by the second iteration of its growth plan, which was 
approved in 2017. The board completed implementation of its dispute mechanism in October 2022, with the 
appointment of 12 committee panel members. These appointments were supported unanimously by the 
board. The board also approved a Regional Agricultural Master Plan to guide development of agricultural 
land and other land uses in the region. The framework will provide the region with guidance and tools to 
make decisions regarding agricultural lands consistent with the principles and objectives of the Edmonton 
Metropolitan Region Board Growth Plan. It will position the region to capitalize on opportunities for the 
economic growth and sustainability in the sector. The Regional Agricultural Master Plan was approved by the 
Minister in January 2023. 

Ministry Support for the Boards 

Under the Alberta Community Partnership program, provincial funding to the growth management boards 
has gradually been reduced to the current level as the boards establish their respective growth plans and 
assume greater responsibility for funding their own operations. Regulations enable each growth management 
board to requisition operating funding from their members to reduce reliance on provincial funding. In 2022-
23, the province provided $1 million in funding to each board, aimed at supporting board operations. 

Intermunicipal Collaboration Frameworks 

The Municipal Government Act includes specific requirements for municipalities outside of the metropolitan 
regions to create intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans.  

Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks are intended to: 

• provide for the integrated and strategic planning, delivery, and funding of intermunicipal services; 

• provide for stewardship of service resources; and 

• ensure municipalities contribute funding to services that benefit their residents. 

Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks ensure coordinated and cost-effective delivery of shared services to 
residents and businesses between municipalities that share a border. Alberta residents and businesses benefit 
from lower costs or increased service levels as municipalities explore and agree on ways to deliver and cost 
share their services. 
 
Funding has been provided to municipalities through the Alberta Community Partnership program to 
support the development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans 
in two ways: 

• Under the Mediation and Cooperative Processes stream, up to $50,000 in funding can be used to support 
one-half of the costs of a mediator or facilitator to assist municipalities in negotiating service agreements 
pertaining to intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and/or intermunicipal development plans. 

• Under the Intermunicipal Collaboration component, up to $200,000 in funding can be used to support 
the full cost of laying the groundwork for creating intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and/or 
intermunicipal development plans. 
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As of March 31, 2023, only two of 436 required intermunicipal collaboration frameworks have not yet been 
completed. 

Most municipalities created their intermunicipal collaboration frameworks on their own and did not require 
arbitration.   

Mediation is a very effective way to bring intermunicipal collaboration frameworks at risk of impasse to 
completion. The use of a neutral third party to guide discussions has been shown to expedite a resolution, 
preserve relationships, and minimize costs. Approximately 90 per cent of disputes in 2022-23 were resolved 
through mediation. 

The step beyond mediation, mandatory arbitration, is an effective tool for the small number of municipalities 
that reached an impasse in their negotiations on outstanding cost-sharing disputes around intermunicipal 
services.  

Three judicial reviews were brought forward by municipalities in relation to intermunicipal collaboration 
frameworks. 

• In the first case, one municipality challenged a Ministerial Order imposing an intermunicipal collaborative 
framework. The Ministerial Order imposed the framework as agreed to by the two municipalities, and 
excluded library services from the framework as the municipalities had been unable to agree on this 
matter and library services are a third-party service and therefore fall outside of the scope of 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks. In December 2022, the court upheld the Minister’s order, 
determining that the Minister had acted reasonably. 

• In two other cases, municipalities have challenged decisions of arbitrators. These cases are expected to be 
heard in 2023. 

Intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and the associated dispute resolution process were first legislated in 
2018. Given this is the first time the legislation was implemented, it was recognized that some adjustments to 
the legislation and implementation processes might be required. While implementation has been largely 
successful, in fall 2022, both the Alberta Municipalities and Rural Municipalities of Alberta adopted 
resolutions seeking refinement of the legislation to provide further clarity. Points of clarification include 
defining intermunicipal services and considering the use of 
funding formulas with respect to intermunicipal collaboration 
frameworks. Municipal Affairs will undertake a review of the 
effectiveness of the legislative requirements, with an 
expectation to engage municipalities and municipal associations 
in early 2024.  
 

Alberta Community Partnership Program 

The Alberta Community Partnership grant program enables municipalities to leverage funding to advance 
local and regional priorities across the province in a cost-effective manner, including municipal regional 
collaboration and capacity-building initiatives.  

The budget for the 2022-23 Alberta Community Partnership program was $15.9 million, with grants 
supporting projects as follows:  

1. Intermunicipal Collaboration ($7,161,226);  

Nearly 99 per cent (98.6 per cent) 
of municipalities successfully 
completed their intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks without 
the need for arbitration. 
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2. Strategic Initiatives – which includes support for growth management boards, organizations promoting 
municipal professional development, and projects of intermunicipal and strategic significance ($5,695,254);  

3. Municipal Restructuring ($1,420,000); 

4. Municipal Internship ($960,000);  

5. Mediation and Cooperative Processes ($145,000); 

6. transfer to Grants in Place of Taxes ($20,700); and 

7. Fire Services Supports – Fire Services Training Program and exemplary service medals ($525,000). 

Treasury Board approved an in year budget increase of $988,673 to support three Strategic Initiatives projects 
for Lac Ste. Anne County, Parkland County, and Alberta Beach for municipal costs associated with the papal 
visit in July 2022 (see Strategic Initiatives).  

Intermunicipal Collaboration  

The Intermunicipal Collaboration component of the Alberta Community Partnership is a competitive grant 
program that provides funding to municipal partnerships pursuing regional approaches to service delivery. 
The funding enables municipalities to undertake intermunicipal service delivery planning projects that can 
lead to shared services arrangements, greater efficiencies, economies of scale in the provision of services, 
resource optimization, and better access to services for Albertans. Projects funded include regional plans for 
emergency preparedness and disaster mitigation, infrastructure management strategies, land use, water supply 
and distribution, and transit governance. 

Intermunicipal Collaboration funding also supports provincial priorities; specifically, enhancing government 
services, growing Alberta’s economy, and supporting fiscal sustainability. Funding under this component 
supported the following priorities in 2022-23: 

• municipal partners exploring economic growth and regional service planning initiatives for revenue and 
cost-sharing agreements; 
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• governance model options that consider alternative operational frameworks or policies;  

• evaluating infrastructure priorities; and  

• determining operational requirements for intermunicipal service delivery for project partners.  

This component had strong demand this year, with 57 applications reviewed for projects related to:  

• health and safety;  

• emergency preparedness/risk mitigation;  

• operational efficiencies/reducing red tape;  

• economic growth/business continuity; and  

• the development of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans. 

In 2022-23, the Intermunicipal Collaboration component provided $7.1 million to municipalities across 
Alberta as they collaborated on 43 projects. These projects helped advance Municipal Affairs’ mandate to 
directly support Alberta’s local governments and enable municipalities to leverage targeted funding to 
advance regional priorities. 

Funded projects from 2022-23 include: 

Regional Infrastructure Master Plan 

The Town of Vauxhall received $200,000 to partner with the Municipal District of Taber in developing a 
regional infrastructure master plan. This plan includes a comprehensive infrastructure condition assessment 
of the water, wastewater collection and treatment, and stormwater management systems, transportation 
system, and public facilities.  

The project is expected to result in a framework that will guide local and joint municipal decision making on 
infrastructure improvements and upgrades. The regional infrastructure master plan is expected to support 
local municipal and regional sustainability, which ultimately impacts the ability of the partners to support 
growth and attract investment within the region.  

Emergency Management Regional Partnership Development 

The County of Paintearth received $114,000 to partner with the towns of Coronation and Castor, and the 
Village of Halkirk to strengthen and formalize the delivery of emergency management services and responses 
within the partnership. Project partners intend to review the feasibility of an emergency management 
agreement, as well as develop common supporting emergency management bylaws and plans for partnering 
municipalities. The project is expected to result in enhanced emergency management competencies, and will 
support mutual aid assistance provided to neighbouring communities within a largely rural and remote area of 
Alberta. These activities are expected to have a positive impact on public safety throughout the region.  

Regional Transportation Operational and Funding Plan 

The County of Grande Prairie received $75,000 to partner with the City of Grande Prairie and the towns of 
Beaverlodge, Sexsmith, and Wembley to develop a transportation implementation and funding plan. The 
partners will engage a consultant to meet with current transportation providers, system riders, municipalities, 
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and other stakeholders to determine operational requirements, identify gaps within the existing service, and 
find ideas and suggestions for future implementation. 

The project is expected to result in a plan that enhances transportation services provided to the public, and to 
those with mobility concerns and other special needs. The plan also supports a more integrated transit system 
within the partnership, enhancing economic growth within the region. 

Regional Stormwater Plan 

The City of Wetaskiwin received $100,000 to partner with the County of Wetaskiwin in developing a regional 
stormwater management plan. The plan will extend the utility master plan within the city to include the 
surrounding county lands, identify cost-sharing models and operational efficiencies, growth strategies, and 
establish future stormwater-related partnership opportunities.  

The project is expected to result in improved health and safety of the region’s residents by addressing 
downstream contamination through effective stormwater management, increasing environmental resilience, 
and guiding long-term funding strategies to protect citizens and land. 

Strategic Initiatives  

On occasion, the ministry has an opportunity to support projects of strategic significance that fall outside the 
scope of the other funding components but align with ministry and provincial priorities. In 2022-23, the 
ministry funded the following strategic initiatives:  

Papal Visit  

The following municipalities received $988,673 in total to support costs related to Pope Francis’ visit to Lac 
Ste. Anne County on July 26, 2022: 

• Lac Ste. Anne County – $882,230; 

• Alberta Beach – $65,846; and 

• Parkland County – $40,597. 

The papal visit to the Lac Ste. Anne pilgrimage site was an important step in Alberta’s ongoing reconciliation 
with Indigenous peoples, and significant municipal resources were required for event planning, 
implementation, and recovery. These grants supported municipal costs related to event safety, including 
security and policing, signage, materials and supplies, dust control, ditch maintenance, road repairs, planning 
and meetings, communication activities, and some post-event remediation activities. 

This strategic initiative aligns with provincial priorities to promote Indigenous reconciliation, and ensures 
appropriate compensation for extraordinary municipal costs associated with the papal visit. 

Recreation and Community-Based Special Projects 

Three municipalities received a total of $1.3 million to support capital planning for five recreational and 
community-based facility projects. These grants support planning activities such as needs assessments, 
feasibility studies, and design work and will better position the capital projects for advancement to 
construction. The projects will help to support municipal decision-making though proper planning, create 
jobs, and ensure Albertans have access to recreation and opportunities for community participation.  
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These strategic initiatives align with provincial priorities to develop infrastructure and promote economic 
growth. The planning projects will ensure the development of modern facilities that encourage an active and 
engaged lifestyle, help attract new families and workers, and provide economic stimulus to local economies.  

The following municipal projects received funding under this initiative: 

• Artificial Turf Facility (City of Airdrie) – $300,000; 

• Skyview Ranch Recreation Facility Concept Planning (City of Calgary) – $300,000; 

• Belmont Recreation Facility Concept Planning (City of Calgary) – $300,000; 

• Saddle Ridge Athletic Park Concept Planning (City of Calgary) – $300,000; and 

• Kitscoty Sport and Event Centre and Regional Park Upgrades (Village of Kitscoty) – $100,000. 

City of Fort Saskatchewan: Edmonton Metropolitan Transit Services Commission – Updated Service Plan and Costing Project 

The City of Fort Saskatchewan received $460,425 to support the Edmonton Metropolitan Transit Services 
Commission’s (EMTSC) update of its service plan, including detailed financial analysis and cost modeling. 
The amended plan was completed prior to the decision of member municipalities to withdraw from the 
EMTSC resulting in its official dissolution. The grant assisted all members with covering a portion of the cost 
and demonstrated the province’s ongoing commitment to support regional collaboration, economic 
development, and transportation-related service efficiency in the Edmonton area.  

Town of Innisfail Land Remediation 

The Town of Innisfail received $797,147 to repay a federal Small Communities Fund grant in order to permit 
the development of a planned business park within the community. The repayment of federal funding 
eliminates federal restrictions on the sale of the land, allowing the community to pursue economic 
development activities.  

This strategic priority, through the development and sale of the rehabilitated land, is expected to contribute to 
economic recovery and growth within the community and region. 

Municipal Restructuring  
 
The Municipal Restructuring component of the Alberta Community Partnership program provides grants to 
municipalities undertaking viability reviews or restructuring activities, such as dissolution or amalgamation. In 
2022-23: 

• funding of $120,000 was provided to the Village of Delia for an infrastructure study in support of the 
municipality’s viability review; and  

• transitional, infrastructure and debt-serving funding (relating to the amalgamation of the towns of Black 
Diamond and Turner Valley) of $1.2 million was provided to the Town of Diamond Valley.  

Municipal Internship 

The Municipal Internship component provides grants to municipalities and planning services agencies that 
participate as hosts to land-use planner, finance officer, or municipal administrator interns. Alberta’s 
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Municipal Internship program is one of the most comprehensive municipal internship programs in Canada, 
providing funding and capacity-building support to Alberta municipalities. 

In 2022-23, the ministry provided $960,000 in grant funding to 15 municipalities and one intermunicipal 
planning services agency to cover the costs of hosting five administrator interns, four finance officer interns, 
and seven land-use planner interns. To ensure interns and host municipalities were set up for success, the 
ministry also provided approximately 500 hours of training and coaching support. 

Mediation and Cooperative Processes 
 
The Mediation and Cooperative Processes component of the Alberta Community Partnership program 
provides grants to municipalities to support the resolution of intermunicipal conflict through dispute 
resolution alternatives and to develop processes and protocols to enhance municipal collaboration. Municipal 
collaboration advisors offer coaching and mediation support to administration and councils to provide 
information and access to dispute resolution processes and programs.  

In 2022-23, five grants totalling $145,000 were provided to five municipalities to develop intermunicipal 
protocols and agreements, support mediation for a land-use dispute, and develop communication protocols 
for collaborative governance between council, administration, and community members.  

2.2 Collaborate with municipalities and municipal associations to develop tools, programs, and 
training to support well-managed, accountable, and sustainable municipalities. 

Alberta municipalities have a broad legislative mandate that includes: 

• providing good government;  

• fostering economic development; and  

• providing services, facilities or other things that, in the opinion of council, are necessary or desirable for 
all, or a part of, the municipality.  

They also strive to develop and maintain safe and viable communities, and work collaboratively with 
neighbouring municipalities to plan, deliver, and fund intermunicipal services. Municipal Affairs supports this 
broad mandate through a range of programs and services targeted at building capacity, strengthening 
compliance, and ensuring accountability.  
 
The ministry proactively works with municipalities with a population under 2,500, through the Municipal 
Accountability Program to assist them in developing capacity to comply with provincial legislation. Reviews 
of municipalities are conducted every five years on a rotating schedule, during which a municipality’s bylaws, 
policies, and practices are examined and analyzed against legislative requirements and best practices. Ministry 
advisory services and resources are provided to municipalities following each review to assist them in 
addressing any areas of non-compliance.  

In instances where significant concerns about the governance or administration of a municipality or a regional 
services commission exist, an inspection may occur. This can be ordered by the Minister of Municipal Affairs, 
though typically, inspections are ordered in response to a request of council (or a member of the regional 
services commission), or a sufficient petition to the Minister of Municipal Affairs from the electors of a 
municipality. In 2022-23, the ministry completed one inspection in the City of Chestermere. 
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Municipalities facing limited administrative or financial capacity, aging infrastructure, and other significant 
challenges to their viability may undergo a viability review to analyze their current situation and explore 
options for the future of the municipality, including dissolution of the municipality.  

Performance Measure 2.a: Percentage of municipalities who have met or exceeded the minimum 
performance targets for financial and governance risk indicators  

 

Data from municipal financial information returns as well as other ministry sources is used to develop the 
municipal indicators used for the ministry’s performance measure 2.a. The percentage of municipalities who 
have met or exceeded the minimum performance targets for financial and governance risk indicators based 
on 2021 data (2022-23 reporting year) was 92.5 per cent, once again exceeding the established target of 90 per 
cent target. This target was set conservatively based on historical results, which reflects the ever-evolving 
nature of governance and administration that affect a municipality’s performance on the indicators.  

Twenty-four municipalities may face long-term viability challenges, which is six more than in 2020. Of the 24 
municipalities, 10 had at least one legislative ministerial action taken against them, of which two had two 
ministerial interventions. The remaining 14 municipalities flagged three to five non-critical indicators, and 
thus did not require ministerial intervention.  

None of the municipalities included in the analysis flagged the audit outcome indicator, demonstrating that 
municipalities were in a fair financial situation and no major issues were identified with their municipal audits. 
Like previous years, the non-critical indicators of tax collection and infrastructure investment were among the 
most flagged, highlighting two major problems municipalities are struggling with: reduced municipal revenue 
and aging infrastructure. A total of 322 municipalities were included in the analysis. The total number of 
municipalities at the end of December 31, 2021 was 333, five less than in 2020. At the time the performance 
measure was calculated (December 2022), 329 municipalities had submitted their financial information return 
data. Seven improvement districts were excluded from calculation as data analysis indicated that a large 
percentage of the indicators did not accurately reflect how improvement districts functioned. 

General municipal elections were held in 2021 and 65 municipalities flagged the (non-critical) indicator related 
to public interest in municipal office. While the acclamation of council members due to a lack of candidates 
to contest a local election can be an indication of public satisfaction with incumbent council members, this 
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can also indicate a lack of public engagement and interest in elected office; in this latter case, this can be a 
warning flag of longer-term viability risk. As municipal general elections occur only every four years, the 
number of municipalities flagging this indicator will decline sharply over the next three years before 
potentially rising again in 2025.  

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on municipal finances starts to be reflected in the indicators for this 
reporting year. The current year actual (92.5 per cent) is higher than the target but the lowest since 2017. 
Overall, Alberta municipalities in 2021 did not outperform the previous year. Although fewer municipalities 
flagged the Tax Collection Rate indicator, significantly more municipalities flagged the On-time Financial 
Reporting indicator. The uptrend of the flagging of infrastructure indicators continued in 2021. Inadequate 
municipal or local investment in infrastructure has been a major concern for many municipalities for years. 
Combined with the emerging funding and debt issues, it may lead to reduced quality of municipal services 
and hamper long-term economic growth. 

The annual target was set based on historical results. Going forward, the variance between the target and the 
actual result is expected to narrow as more data becomes available. 

Alberta’s Municipal Measurement Index  

The Municipal Measurement Index dashboard (www.alberta.ca/municipal-measurement-index.aspx) is an 
interactive web-based application that provides Albertans with easy-to-access information about their 
communities. Through the application, Albertans can explore and compare financial and statistical 
information for all Alberta municipalities. The index spans several years and is refreshed regularly as new 
information becomes available – with an end goal of improving municipal transparency and accountability.  

Municipalities receive an index value based on population, equalized assessment, and geographic area, which 
is used to assist in meaningful comparison between municipalities. Albertans are able to compare values such 
as property tax rates, property tax burden, composition of property tax base, revenue and expenses, and debt 
information adding to the objective of improving municipal transparency so that local electors may hold their 
councils accountable. 

Municipal Accountability Program  

The purpose of the Municipal Accountability Program is to assist municipalities in developing capacity 
through educating municipal administrators about the requirements established by the Municipal Government 
Act and actions they may need to take to comply with these requirements. More than 200 legislative 
requirements distributed within 60 topics in the Municipal Government Act and related legislation are covered in 
each Municipal Accountability Program review. A Municipal Accountability Program review is a proactive 
process to identify and mitigate issues that, if left unaddressed, could necessitate an in-depth inspection. 

An in-depth municipal inspection is a major undertaking requiring a significant investment in terms of the 
time and financial resources of both the ministry and the municipality.  

Through the Municipal Accountability Program, the ministry proactively works with municipalities with a 
population under 2,500 to assist them in developing capacity to comply with provincial legislation. Over the 
course of the program, reviews were conducted in 216 municipalities, or 63 per cent of all municipalities in 
Alberta. The program is not intended for cities, improvement districts, or special areas.  

In 2022, 27 reviews were conducted. 
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Of the 27 reviews completed by December 31, 2022, the number of non-compliant gaps identified varied 
from as low as two out of 57 (96 per cent compliant) to a high of 26 out of 57 (54 per cent compliant), as 
shown in the following graph:  

 

Beyond achieving the program objectives, the Municipal Accountability Program has: 

• highlighted the excellent work municipalities are doing; 

• educated municipalities about recent legislative amendments and responsibilities; 

• enhanced public confidence that municipalities are complying with legislation; 
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• provided chief administrative officers an additional opportunity to receive advisory support from the 
ministry;  

• garnered the support of external stakeholders and agencies for the program; and 

• identified trends and areas where the ministry has been able to offer additional training and support to 
municipal administrators. 

Ministry support for the 2018-22 cycle of Municipal Accountability Program reviews will remain in place until 
all reviews and municipal action plans are complete. The proposed scope for the 2023-28 phase of the 
program has been developed and is expected to commence in fall 2023.  
 
A total of 150 of the 216 Municipal Accountability Program reviews conducted from January 2018 to 
December 2022 have been completed by the municipality to the 
satisfaction of the Minister: 
 

• 46 of 46, or 100 per cent of 2018 reviews;  

• 55 of 61, or 90 per cent of 2019 reviews; 

• 28 of 39, or 72 per cent of 2020 reviews; 

• 19 of 43, or 44 per cent of 2021 reviews; and  

• 2 of 27, or 7 per cent of 2022 reviews. 

The municipal completion rates identified above for the 
Municipal Accountability Program are acceptable to the ministry. 
It is important to note that completion of municipal actions to 
comply with legislation are not required to be undertaken in the 
same year as the review as often the actions required involve 
comprehensive analysis, engaging with council on multiple 
occasions, and passing bylaws, which sometimes requires public 
engagement. Municipalities responding to a review and 
subsequent action items also work collaboratively with the 
ministry to establish a reasonable timeline for completion. 

Municipal Inspections 

The objective of the inspection process is to support the role of a council, or a regional services commission 
board, and its administration in providing good governance and services in the community. 

Inspections may be ordered by the Minister when, in the Minister’s opinion, significant governance or 
management concerns exist. Inspections may be undertaken as a result of: 

• the Minister’s initiative; 

• a request from council; 

• a request from a member of a regional services commission; or 

• a sufficient petition submitted to the Minister. 

For all municipalities that have 
completed their Municipal 
Accountability Program review to 
the satisfaction of the Minister, it 
took an average of 641 days from 
the date the municipality 
submitted their action plan to 
address the legislative gaps found 
in the review. The shortest time to 
complete was zero days (the 
municipality completed all items in 
the eight-week response period), 
and the longest took 1,281 days. 

The proactive process used in the 
Municipal Accountability Program 
to mitigate compliance issues has 
contributed to the fact that the 
Minister of Municipal Affairs has 
ordered only one inspection since 
the program began in 2018. 
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As part of the inspection, the ministry will typically conduct a preliminary review, and if there is indication of 
significant concerns, the Minister may order an inspection. Inspectors are most typically contracted through 
the formal Government of Alberta procurement process and must be appointed by Ministerial Order. 
 
Over the past six years, 30 inspection requests were received, with the lowest number of requests occurring 
from 2019 to 2021. This is a strong indicator that the introduction of the Municipal Accountability Program 
has been beneficial to ensuring sound governance and administration. 
 
City of Chestermere inspection 

The Minister received complaints from members of council, current and former employees, and the public 
regarding the administration and governance of the City of Chestermere starting in January 2022. 

Ministry staff conducted a preliminary review in March/April 2022 and concluded an in-depth inspection was 
justified. 

On May 9, 2022, the Minister appointed an inspector to conduct an inspection of the management, 
administration, and operations of the City of Chestermere. The inspector submitted his report to the Minister 
in September 2022 and the inspection report was shared with city council in November; each member of 
council and senior administration was provided with an opportunity to provide feedback to the Minister. 
Following consideration of the inspection report and the feedback received from council and senior 
administration, the Minister shared the inspection results with council and administration and the public on 
March 15, 2023, and issued 12 directives to the City of Chestermere. The ministry is currently monitoring the 
city’s progress on the directives. 

Municipal Viability  

The viability review process, enabled through the Municipal Government Act, provides a framework to evaluate 
the viability of a municipality encountering significant challenges. The process includes a vote of local electors 
and can result in implementing an action plan to address viability issues or can lead to a municipal dissolution. 
Through dissolution, the municipal corporation no longer exists, and the community becomes part of a 
neighbouring municipality.  

A viability review is a collaborative process that includes the municipality under review, the municipality that 
would absorb the dissolved municipality, municipal associations, and the ministry. These reviews look at a 
municipality’s governance, finances, infrastructure, and services in order to determine what changes are 
required for the community to remain viable. To provide an accurate picture of the municipality’s 
infrastructure status, each viability review typically includes a comprehensive infrastructure study funded 
through the Municipal Restructuring component of the Alberta Community Partnership program.  

Viability reviews can be initiated in three ways:  

1. at the request of a municipal council;  

2. upon receipt of a sufficient petition from a municipality’s electors; or  

3. at the discretion of the Minister if there is evidence that a municipality is facing significant challenges.  

In 2022-23, one request for a viability review was received from the Village of Delia. The review was 
approved by the Minister in January 2023, and the review is expected to be concluded in approximately 12 to 
14 months. 
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Viability Review Evaluation Project 

In 2021 and 2022, the ministry engaged KPMG to independently evaluate the current viability review process. 
A final report was delivered in March 2022, which provided a summary of opportunities for improvement. In 
2022-23, Ministry staff reviewed the results of the evaluation and leveraged the information to enhance and 
develop new approaches and tools to improve the program this fiscal year, including: 

• enhancing public engagement opportunities, most notably through the addition of a mid-review public 
information session that will provide an update to residents and property owners on the progress of the 
review, as well as minimizing the risk of “surprise” issues or concerns being raised late in the process; 

• enhancing municipal and public communications by including all directly affected municipal 
administrations and councils in initial meetings, by developing standard communications for use by 
municipalities, and by enhancing the clarity and focus of the viability review reports intended for the 
public; 

• providing clarity to municipal associations regarding their role within the viability review process and 
offering them more opportunity to provide input into report recommendations; and 

• enhancing ministry support to municipalities following the issuance of ministerial directives at the end of 
a viability review, as well as developing a suite of post-review supports following amalgamation or 
dissolution. 

Other Municipal Restructuring in 2022-23  
 
The Municipal Government Act provides a process for amalgamation, which occurs when two or more 
municipalities join to become one municipality. Municipalities may explore voluntary amalgamation if they 
believe they can operate more effectively or efficiently together rather than separately.  

• The towns of Turner Valley and Black Diamond had been intermittently exploring amalgamation since 
1987, culminating in a formal application to the province to amalgamate in September 2021. In May 
2022, Cabinet approved the amalgamation of the towns of Black Diamond and Turner Valley into the 
Town of Diamond Valley, effective January 1, 2023. To assist the towns in navigating the transition 
process, the Minister appointed two official administrators until the first elected council of Diamond 
Valley was sworn into office on January 9, 2023. In addition to their legislated duties, the official 
administrators met regularly with the towns’ administrations to provide transitional and advisory support. 
The Minister approved a total of $1.2 million for the Town of Diamond Valley to be used toward post-
restructuring transitional operational costs, such as bylaw review, communication with residents, and 
human resources as well as to address infrastructure projects or pay down non-utility debt. 

• The Town of Rocky Mountain House, Clearwater County, and the Village of Caroline completed a 
regional governance study in 2021, previously funded by the Alberta Community Partnership program. 
The key recommendation of the regional governance study was for Clearwater County and the Village of 
Caroline to pursue amalgamation, and to continue their collaboration with the town. The village and 
county notified the Minister of their intention to initiate amalgamation proceedings in February 2023 and 
have indicated they will submit their report on amalgamation to the ministry by the end of 2023.  

The Municipal Government Act also provides for the ability to form new municipalities. This is an exceedingly 
rare occurrence, as all lands in the province are located within municipal boundaries. However, municipal 
formation is a tool that can be used to restructure the boundaries between new and existing municipalities.  
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• In response to a 2019 petition from electors, the ministry led a study to explore the possibility of forming 
a new municipality that would constitute approximately half of the existing lands within Mackenzie 
County and the Town of Rainbow Lake. The study was completed with the support and collaboration of 
the two impacted municipalities and found that the proposed formation would result in a non-viable 
municipality. In May 2022, the Minister formally communicated with the municipalities and the petitioner 
that Municipal Affairs would not proceed with further action in response to the petition for restructuring.  

Summary 
 
Overall, the number of viability reviews remains very small in the context of Alberta’s municipal sector. In 
addition to supporting municipalities that have been issued directives as a result of a viability review, and 
transitional support following amalgamation and dissolution, the ministry continues to provide advisory 
support, including informational presentations to municipalities looking at exploring municipal restructuring. 
Presentations assist municipalities in understanding the differences between the dissolution and amalgamation 
processes, as well as the funding that is available, and supports related to the Alberta Community Partnership 
grant.  

The following graph represents activities related to viability review and other municipal restructuring support 
provided in 2022-23: 

 
 
 
 
Ongoing Advice, Resources, and Training 

Municipal Advisory Support 

The ministry continues to provide timely and relevant support to municipalities and Albertans on a wide 
range of topics, including municipal governance, administration, by-elections, planning, finance, and taxation. 
In 2022-23, there was a decrease in phone calls and emails to the ministry’s advisors from the previous year, 
largely due to the removal of public health measures related to COVID-19. In the previous two years, the 
ministry had fielded a significant number of calls related to the Restrictions Exemptions Program and its 
impact on municipal operations and municipal elections. In 2022-23, there has been increased interest in 
councillor accountability and the ability to recall municipal elected officials. 
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The following chart illustrates the rise in number of advisory calls and emails over the COVID pandemic and 
how this number has, in 2022-23, returned to a volume more consistent with pre-COVID levels.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Training Offered/Delivered  

In 2022-23, the ministry resumed in-person training and visits with new chief administrative officers, while 
also offering virtual meetings to meet the needs of municipal clients. 

The ministry completed 22 visits with new chief administrative officers in 2022-23, 17 in-person and five 
virtually. These meetings provided an opportunity for advisory staff to offer advice on legislative 
requirements, best practices, and information on the significant legislative amendments to the Municipal 
Government Act. The visits also provide an opportunity to build connections between the ministry and 
municipal administrators. 

This year, the ministry also offered 17 virtual training presentations through the Municipal Affairs 
Administrators’ Training Initiative. Approximately 450 attendees from 100 municipalities attended the 
sessions, which covered topics such as: public engagement; finance, budget and tax recovery; legislative and 
grant program updates; joint-use planning agreements; regional service delivery options; restructuring and 
viability considerations; accountability; and library board services. Advisory staff also presented two in-person 
and two virtual sessions on taxation and assessment processes, and one session on Assessment Review and 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Boards to about 300 municipal staff.  

Virtual training sessions have proven to be popular with municipal staff and, going forward, the ministry will 
be leveraging the benefits of using both in-person and virtual sessions to meet the needs of municipal 
administrations. 

Municipal Affairs also supports public libraries by offering training to library boards and responding to 
stakeholder requests and questions. With the easing of public health restrictions in early 2022, ministry staff 
delivered both online and in-person training to library stakeholders in 2022-23. Staff delivered more than 60 
training sessions and conference presentations on library board governance, strategic planning, library 
operating grant applications, Indigenous librarianship, and more. This included sessions delivered to 
municipal councillors and employees as part of the Municipal Affairs Administrators’ Training Initiative. 
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Throughout 2022-23, Municipal Affairs also distributed training materials to library boards and staff on topics 
such as library board roles and responsibilities and Indigenous library service.  

In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs continued to take action to ensure government documents are accessible to 
people with print disabilities (visual, physical, or cognitive impairments that prevent them from using a print 
book). The ministry hired two additional staff members – including an employee with lived experience – who:  

• assess and reformat documents for accessibility;  

• provide training on accessibility to Government of Alberta employees; and  

• provide guidance during the document creation process to help ensure documents are ‘born accessible’ - 
that is, accessible to print disabled readers from document creation. 

Municipal Internship 

As the longest running program of its type in Canada, this 
partnership initiative continues to support Alberta’s 
municipalities and planning services agencies to provide jobs for 
recent post-secondary graduates who are eager to pursue careers 
in municipal government. More than 110 municipalities and 
seven planning services agencies have participated as internship 
hosts since the program’s inception in 2002. 

The Municipal Internship Program received a record number of 
applications from municipalities and planning services agencies 
interested in hosting an intern starting in May 2023. Applications 
from recent post-secondary graduates also remain high, and 
alumni of the program have been successful in moving into 
various municipal roles. 

In 2022-23, the ministry provided grant funding through the 
Alberta Community Partnership program to help municipalities 
cover the costs of hosting five administrator interns, four finance 
officer interns, and seven land-use planner interns for 18-month work terms. With the 16 new professionals 
taking part in the 2023 program, more than 350 interns have now taken part in this nationally renowned 
initiative. 

2.3 Provide capital grants to support sustainable investment in municipal infrastructure, operating 
grants, and work with municipal partners to develop details of the Local Government Fiscal 
Framework. 

 
Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital Funding  

In 2022, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative continued to support Alberta’s municipalities with stable 
funding for capital projects. Alberta communities use the funding to build and rehabilitate infrastructure, such 
as roads and bridges, water and wastewater systems, public transit facilities, recreation and sports facilities, 
and other key local priorities. 

Alumni of the Internship Program 
have gone on to work in 
positions such as director of 
finance, chief administrative 
officer, sustainability coordinator, 
senior planner, city clerk, 
communications manager, and 
other key municipal positions. 
Many have gained professional 
designations, are mentors and 
supervisors to current interns, 
and are strong advocates of 
building capacity in Alberta’s 
municipalities through supporting 
post-secondary graduates to 
pursue municipal careers. 
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The government continues to make a substantial financial 
commitment to Alberta municipalities and in its 2021 budget, 
provided an annual average of $722 million to local 
governments until the end of the Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative in 2023-24. This funding level represents a 25 per 
cent reduction from the $963 million budgeted in 2020. The 
funding was front-loaded in the first year so that priority 
projects could continue, and as a result, municipalities received 
$1.196 billion in capital funding in 2021-22. Municipalities 
received $485 million in 2022-23, and will receive the same 
amount again in 2023-24. The Local Government Fiscal 
Framework will replace the Municipal Sustainability Initiative in 
2024, with funding starting at $722 million. In 2022-23, several 
administrative program changes were implemented to support 
the wind-down of the program in 2023-24 and the transition to 
the Local Government Fiscal Framework in 2024-25.  

In 2022-23, municipalities committed $627 million of capital funding for 797 accepted projects. Alberta 
municipalities used the funding available in 2022-23 and carried forward funding from prior fiscal years. 

Projects included: 

• upgrading and rehabilitating several sports fields, enhancing outdoor recreation and parks amenities 
across the City of Calgary; 

• replacing trees throughout the City of Edmonton’s urban forest canopy and rebuilding horticultural beds, 
which contributed to the long-term stability and environmental quality of the urban park system; 

Capital Funding for Local Infrastructure Projects, 2022-23 

During 2022-23, Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative capital 
grants supported the construction, 
replacement, or rehabilitation of 
approximately 15,000 kilometres of 
road lanes throughout the 
province. 

In 2022-23, municipalities across 
the province used Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative capital 
funding to purchase or replace 
about 200 pieces of public works 
equipment, such as graders, street 
sweepers, and snowplows. 
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• purchasing electric transit buses and charging equipment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and noise 
pollution within the City of Lethbridge; 

• constructing water and wastewater lines in Vulcan County’s new industrial park; 

• constructing a new library in Cypress County that will satisfy community needs as both a library and 
community resource centre in the Hamlet of Irvine; 

• constructing a new carbon neutral fire station in the Town of Canmore; 

• upgrading security equipment in the Town of Calmar’s administrative building and library; 

• constructing a water spray park and recreational vehicle dump station in the Town of Slave Lake, adding 
to the town’s recreational facilities for families;  

• installing and realigning wastewater lines along a street in the Town of Manning; 

• paving several roads and constructing sidewalks in the Village of Elnora; 

• contributing funding to the Alberta Central East Water Corporation to expand the regional waterline 
system and ensure a steady water supply for residents of the Village of Paradise Valley; 

• rehabilitating trails in the Summer Village of Mewatha Beach to improve accessibility; and 

• purchasing a school bus to transport high school students from the Fishing Lake Metis Settlement. 

Local Government Fiscal Framework  

The Local Government Fiscal Framework (LGFF) will replace the Municipal Sustainability Initiative Capital 
program in 2024, as set out in the Local Government Fiscal Framework Act.  

The new funding framework will implement a baseline funding level of $722 million in 2024-25, with $382 
million allocated to the cities of Calgary and Edmonton based on a legislated formula, and $340 million 
allocated to the remaining local governments, based on a formula that is under development. Following an 
amendment to the Local Government Fiscal Framework Act that was introduced as part of Budget 2023, overall 
program funding in future years will be adjusted based on the full percentage change in provincial revenues, 
rather than 50 per cent of the percentage change. This will strengthen predictability for municipalities, while 
ensuring overall funding amounts remain sustainable for the province.  

The legislated formula to allocate funding between the cities of Edmonton and Calgary is based on 
population, education property tax requisitions, and kilometres of local road. For other municipalities, the 
Alberta Municipalities (representing urban municipalities) and the Rural Municipalities of Alberta 
(representing rural municipalities) were asked to consult with their member municipalities to develop a 
proposed distribution formula for consideration by the government. The ministry is reviewing input from the 
municipal associations and will be engaging further with the associations prior to finalizing the allocation 
formula. In order to identify local government priorities and preferences for the design of the program, 
Municipal Affairs staff led engagement sessions with municipalities and Metis Settlements from spring 
through fall 2022. This consultation process improves collaboration with municipalities and municipal 
associations, and ensures that the LGFF program reflects input gathered from local government stakeholders. 
The finalized program design and allocation formula are expected to be announced in 2023. 
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In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs began work with the Ministry of Technology and Innovation to develop an 

information technology system to administer the LGFF. It is anticipated that the new system will be 

completed by the end of 2023.  

Federal Programs 

Canada Community-Building Fund  

The Canada Community-Building Fund is a municipal infrastructure program fully funded by the federal 
government but administered by third parties. The program provides up-front, predictable long-term funding 
to address local infrastructure priorities. In Alberta, Municipal Affairs administers the program through a 
bilateral agreement between the province and Canada. The province reports financial activities annually, and 
outcomes every five years to the federal government.  

In 2022-23, the Canada Community-Building Fund provided $254.4 million to help Alberta municipalities 
build and revitalize their local public infrastructure, while creating jobs and long-term prosperity. Alberta 
municipalities used the funding available in 2022-23 and carried forward from prior fiscal years by committing 
more than $261.3 million in program funding for 325 new municipal infrastructure projects. Eligible project 
categories include the following:  

• roads and bridges;  

• public transit;  

• drinking water;  

• wastewater;  

• solid waste;  

• community energy systems;  

• sport, recreational, cultural, and tourism 
infrastructure;  

• capacity building; 

• disaster mitigation;  

• brownfield redevelopment;  

• broadband connectivity;  

• local and regional airports; and  

• fire hall and fire station infrastructure.  

In 2022-23, Infrastructure Canada began initial discussions with the province about program design 
improvements to the Canada Community-Building Fund, with negotiations for extension of the program 
beyond the term of the current agreement scheduled to commence in 2023-24. 

Small Communities Fund 

Under the federal New Building Canada Fund – Small Communities Fund agreement, initiated in 2015, 
Alberta and Canada each committed $94 million to fund infrastructure projects that benefit communities 
with populations of less than 100,000 people. The federal and provincial governments matched funding for 
approved projects up to a maximum of $3 million each, with the municipal government funding a minimum 
of one-third of eligible project costs. Approved projects are generally funded on a one-third cost-sharing 
basis, with the federal, provincial, and municipal governments all providing equal amounts toward eligible 
project costs. Fifty-six projects were approved under the Small Communities Fund in July 2015, with 
provincial funding allocated over five years starting in 2015-16.  

Since 2015-16, 46 projects have been completed, including the following eight projects reported as 
completed in 2022-23:  
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• City of Medicine Hat (Industrial Avenue Overland Flow Protection Strategy) – total project cost $6 
million; total provincial funding $1.5 million; total federal funding $1.5 million; 

• Town of Blackfalds (East Area Stormwater Management Plan – Linear Wetland Trunk and Outlet) – 
total project cost $7.2 million; total provincial funding $2.4 million; total federal funding $2.4 million; 

• Town of Innisfail (Wastewater System Improvement and Remediation) – total project cost $9 million; 
total provincial funding $3 million; total federal funding $3 million; 

• Town of Wainwright (Wastewater Upgrade) – total project cost $1.5 million; total provincial funding 
$500,000; total federal funding $500,000; 

• Big Lakes County (House Mountain Connector Road and Bridge Construction) – total project cost $9 
million; total provincial funding $3 million; total federal funding $3 million; 

• Municipal District of Spirit River No. 133 (Village of Rycroft Flood Control) – total project cost 
$300,000; total provincial funding $100,000; total federal funding $100,000; 

• Westlock County (Water Treatment Plant and Supply System Upgrading – Hamlet of Jarvie) – total 
project cost $1.9 million; total provincial funding $637,000; total federal funding $637,000; and 

• Strathcona County (Transit Fleet Replacement) – total project cost $5.5 million; total provincial funding 
$1.85 million; total federal funding $1.85 million. 

These completed projects have had positive impacts on economic growth and the environment, and helped 
build stronger communities. For example, two of the projects are helping municipalities with flood control 
management, while several others are improving water and wastewater treatment. A final progress report – 
to be prepared when all projects funded under the program are complete – will provide an overview of the 
positive impacts the Small Communities Fund projects had on specific communities, and on the entire 
province. 

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 

In 2018-19, the Government of Canada introduced the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program, a 
program expected to provide $3.65 billion to Alberta over 11 years. As part of Federal Budget 2022, the 
Government of Canada extended the construction deadline for projects funded under the Investing in 
Canada Infrastructure Program from October 2027 to October 2033 in recognition of delays caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The program is focused on infrastructure projects that support the three key federal 
goals of:  

1. creating long-term economic growth;  

2. supporting a low-carbon, green economy; and  

3. building inclusive communities.  

Current federal commitments are:  

• public transit ($1.97 billion);  

• green infrastructure ($1.19 billion);  

• community, culture, and recreation infrastructure ($136.7 million);  
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• rural and northern communities ($124.5 million); and  

• COVID-19 resilience infrastructure ($242.9 million).  

Alberta Infrastructure oversees primary administration of the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 
agreement, with individual ministries throughout government responsible for the grant delivery of approved 
projects. Municipal Affairs is responsible for grant delivery for 24 of the 198 projects approved to date by 
the federal government. Funding agreements were executed in 2020, and most projects are expected to be 
completed in the next three years. Of the 24 projects, 12 have started construction, three are finalizing 
engineering in advance of tender for construction, and nine are complete. Of the nine completed projects, 
six projects were reported as complete in 2022-23:  

• Town of Sexsmith (Regional Flood Mitigation Works) – this project was approved under the Investing 
in Canada Infrastructure Program Green Infrastructure funding stream. The total project cost was $5.1 
million, with the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funding $1.4 million. 

• Village of Consort (Consort Aquatic Facility Upgrades) – this project was approved under the Investing 
in Canada Infrastructure Program Rural and Northern Communities funding stream. The total project 
cost was $1.6 million, with the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funding $622,400. 

• Municipal District of Acadia No. 34 (Acadia Valley Community Hall) – this project was approved under 
the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program Rural and Northern Communities funding stream. The 
total project cost was $2 million, with the Investing Canada Infrastructure Program funding $560,000. 

• Municipal District of Bonnyville No. 87 (Kinosoo Ridge Adventure Park) – this project was approved 
under the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program Rural and Northern Communities funding 
stream. The total project cost was $2 million, with the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 
funding $800,000. 

• Aspen Regional Water Services Commission (Raw Water Intake and Pump-house Modification) – this 
project was approved under the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program Green Infrastructure 
funding stream. The total project cost was $2.7 million, with the Investing in Canada Infrastructure 
Program funding $1 million. 

• Saddle Lake Band No. 125 (Water Source Protection and NE2 Road Resilience Plan) – this project was 
approved under the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program Green Infrastructure funding stream. 
The total project cost was $3.2 million, with the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funding 
$2.4 million. 

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program funds are provided to funding recipients based on quarterly 
expenditure claims. In turn, funds paid to funding recipients are claimed back from the federal government 
through quarterly payment requests submitted to Infrastructure Canada by Alberta Infrastructure. 

Other Ministry Activities in Support of Outcome Two 

Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating Funding  

In 2022-23, the Municipal Sustainability Initiative provided $29 million in operating grant funding to 
municipalities and Metis Settlements. This funding supports capacity-building activities to improve efficiency 
and effectiveness, municipal service delivery, planning activities, and contributions to non-profit 
organizations. Of the budgeted $30 million in operating funding, $916,924 was transferred to capital funding 
at the request of the Regional Municipality of Wood Buffalo.  
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To provide stability in annual funding for municipalities and improve predictability in remaining Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative Operating funding allocations, these allocations were frozen at the 2021 level for 
both 2022 and 2023.  

Operating funds are allocated by municipalities to projects supporting four main government-wide 
objectives:  

1. municipal viability and long-term sustainability;  

2. maintenance of safe, healthy, and vibrant communities; 

3. the development and maintenance of core municipal infrastructure; and 

4. capacity building. 

In late 2022, the ministry launched the new Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating Portal. This new 
portal demonstrates the ministry’s commitment to modern grant management solutions that enhance 
reporting, security, and accessibility through adoption of the latest information technology system standards. 
The portal allows municipalities and Metis Settlements to submit their 2022, and future years’, Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative Operating Statement of Funding and Expenditures (annual reporting) online, which 
minimizes red tape for municipalities. The portal also provides 
a more simplified view of historic operating grant information, 
including financial and payment information.   

In 2022, several program changes were implemented to 
facilitate the transition to the new online portal. Some of the 
key changes include the time limit to spend operating funding 
will be strictly enforced when the Municipal Sustainability 
Initiative ends in 2023, and operating allocation payments are 
issued when the previous year’s reporting has been certified. 

Asset Management  

Asset management is the process of making decisions about the use and care of infrastructure assets – such 
as roads, bridges, and wastewater systems – to deliver services in a way that considers current and future 
needs, manages risks and opportunities, and makes the best use of resources. The state of public 
infrastructure plays an important role in every Albertan’s quality of life. Attention is turning toward asset 
management as a process for making informed decisions to achieve the goal of delivering sustainable 
services, managing risks, and ensuring value for money.  

Local governments are essential partners of the Government of Alberta in providing infrastructure for 
Albertans. They are responsible for a significant amount of the infrastructure on which Albertans rely, and 
do their part by strengthening their capacities to prioritize and plan for infrastructure spending with their 
available resources.  

Asset management practices, which are required to be performed throughout an asset’s life cycle, allow 
municipalities to sustainably manage infrastructure in a planned and integrated manner to maximize value to 
the community.  

Municipal Affairs continues to support the enhancement of asset management practices in communities, 
which provides decision-makers with information to ensure their infrastructure appropriately supports 
residents over the long-term. In addition to providing funding under Municipal Sustainability Initiative 
Capital, Municipal Sustainability Initiative Operating, and Canada Community-Building Fund, the ministry 
supports and participates in Infrastructure Asset Management Alberta, a community of practice that 

Since the launch of the Municipal 
Sustainability Initiative Operating 
Portal, a large number of 
municipalities have reported the 
system as easy to use and have 
not reported any concerns or 
issues with the new platform.  

 



Results Analysis 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2022-23 51 

 

supports and shares asset management best practices between local governments, associations, and private 
industry.  

The ministry has conducted an annual survey of municipalities’ asset management practices since 2017. 
Gathering this data every year enables the province to identify trends and measure changes to municipal 
asset management strategies and practices over time.  

The results have consistently demonstrated that municipalities continue to enhance their asset management 
practices. For example, the percentage of local governments that report their staff are trained in asset 
management has progressively increased since 2017.  

 

According to the 2022 survey results, 52 per cent of local governments reported a council-approved asset 
management policy in 2022, which has increased from 2021 and 2020.  

Grants in Place of Taxes  

The Grants in Place of Taxes program provides municipalities with grant funding equivalent to the 
municipal property taxes on properties the Crown owns or leases and which would otherwise be tax exempt 
under the Municipal Government Act. The payment acknowledges that the Government of Alberta benefits 
from municipal services such as roads, snow clearing, transit, and emergency services. Examples of eligible 
properties include provincial buildings, courthouses, correctional institutions, and grazing reserves.  

The overall Grants in Place of Taxes program budget was reduced in 2019-20 and for following years. In 
2022-23, most of the applications (tax notices) were paid at 50 per cent of the eligible amount. In total, $30.8 
million was provided to 165 municipalities for more than 5,100 Crown properties. 

The province pays a Grant in Place of Taxes to municipalities on behalf of 35 eligible seniors’ 
accommodation facilities. The Minister of Municipal Affairs has approved the continuation of Grants in 
Place of Taxes for these seniors’ facilities through the 2024 taxation year. 
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Equalized Assessment and Education Property Tax  

Each year, the ministry prepares equalized assessments for every municipality in the province under the 
authority of the Minister of Municipal Affairs. Equalized assessments are the basis for requisitioning 
provincial education property tax and other requisitions from municipalities. The equalization of municipal 
property assessments is determined by adjusting each municipality’s taxable assessment to a common level, 
as prescribed by regulation.  

Equalized assessments are used in determining the specific contributions to be made by each municipality 
and in formulas for provincial grants to municipalities. The equalized assessment process levels the playing 
field for municipalities, so property tax requisitions and grants can be fairly allocated. Just as property 
owners pay taxes in proportion to the value of the property they own, municipalities are required to 
contribute to the provincial education and other requisitions based on the proportion of assessment in their 
jurisdictions.  

Intermunicipal fairness and equity are important when requisitioning property taxes from municipalities and 
calculating grants. In this regard, it is usually necessary to make some adjustments in the assessment base 
figures that each municipality reports to the province before those assessments are used to determine each 
municipality’s contribution to a regional or provincial program, or its equitable share of grant dollars. These 
adjustments are made through the equalized assessment process.  

The Municipal Government Act requires most properties be assessed at market value. Ideally, all properties 
would be assessed at 100 per cent of market value. However, in practice, assessments may vary from market 
value. Municipal assessors estimate the market values of sold and unsold properties by applying a technique 
called mass appraisal. Using common data and standard methodology, this technique enables an assessor to 
value a large group of properties in a short period. Mass appraisal is a practice used widely in the assessment 
of property, but it does not necessarily result in a value at 100 per cent of market value. This variation is 
recognized by legislation, which specifies an acceptable range (95 to 105 per cent) within which a group of 
properties can be assessed below or above market value.  

Because this variation may occur, equalization is used to adjust each municipality’s assessments to 100 per 
cent of market value. The equalization process removes the variations in assessment levels to make the 
assessment bases more comparable among municipalities. The process produces a set of adjusted, or 
equalized, assessments that can then be used to distribute requisitions, or allocate grants, among 
municipalities in a fair and equitable manner.  

The official 2023 provincial equalized assessment is about $975 billion, which is an increase of approximately 
$36.9 billion (3.93 per cent) from 2022. This change is the result of an increase in residential (6.3 per cent), a 
decrease in non-residential (1.0 per cent), and an increase in machinery and equipment equalized assessment 
(1.2 per cent). The total equalized assessment comprises 64 per cent residential, 26 per cent non-residential, 
and 10 per cent machinery and equipment. Non-residential equalized assessment is showing signs of halting 
the decline that resulted from the slowing Alberta economy over the last three years and the COVID-19 
pandemic. Non-residential equalized assessment in 2023 decreased by about $2.4 billion compared to a 
decrease of $7.8 billion in 2022. 

Education property taxes provide stable funding for the kindergarten to Grade 12 education system. The 
Government of Alberta determines the total education property tax to be collected, and Municipal Affairs 
supports the provincial education property tax system by calculating the annual education property tax 
requisition for each municipality. Municipalities collect the education property taxes on behalf of the 
provincial government and remit the funds to the Alberta School Foundation Fund or the opted-out 
separate school boards. The education property taxes are then pooled by the provincial government and 
distributed to public and separate school boards based on an equal, per-student funding formula.  
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Auditing for Assessment Quality  

The Assessment Quality Minister’s Guidelines set out requirements for municipalities to report information 
to the province for the annual assessment audit and the equalization process. As in previous years, the 
ministry completed annual audits of all Alberta municipalities by measuring and comparing property 
assessments against market value to determine assessment levels. These assessment levels are used to 
complete the equalized assessment, ensuring education property tax requisitions and assessment-based 
grants are allocated fairly.  

All property groups evaluated within each municipality – all 333 jurisdictions – met the highest standard for 
assessment accuracy. Ninety-nine per cent of municipalities reported and declared assessment information 
on time – with two extensions granted. The auditor accepted the assessment levels, which must meet the 
legislated standard of being between 95 and 105 per cent of market value, for all 333 jurisdictions ensuring 
the data to be used in the equalization process is appropriate. 

In addition to annual audits, the ministry conducted 23 detailed assessment audits on counties and towns. 
Detailed assessment audits provide a more investigative, process-oriented procedural review to determine if 
assessments meet valuation and administration standards. Findings were grouped into best practice 
(valuation) and administrative (compliance) recommendations. Of the numerous municipal administrative 
recommendations arising from the 23 detailed assessment audits, most related to omitted details for 
assessment notices. There were a few best practice recommendations, mostly relating to land valuation and 
consistent use of costing models for improvements. Overall, assessment programs for counties and towns 
are functioning at a high level for compliance and valuation practice.  

Unpaid Oil and Gas Property Taxes  

Some rural municipalities are still facing unpaid oil and gas property taxes stemming from the recent 
economic downturn. To gain a better understanding of the issue, Municipal Affairs conducted its own 
survey of municipalities in fall 2022. The Municipal Affairs survey found that: 
 
• 378 companies owe $220 million in unpaid taxes;  

• of the $220 million total, $90 million has been written off and $130 million is still in arrears, about $76 
million of which is attributable to operating companies; 

• out of the $90 million taxes written off, $12 million represents provincial education taxes, which 
municipalities have had the opportunity to recover through the Provincial Education Requisition Credit 
program; 

• of the 378 companies, 99 are either active or have no indication that they have ceased operations; 

• agreements are now in place with 25 companies for the repayment of about $48 million (out of the $76 
million in arrears attributable to operating companies); and 

• there are signs that the issue of unpaid taxes is beginning to resolve as 19 municipalities said they have 
been successful in recovering a total of $8 million. 

A summary of survey results was published on Alberta.ca (https://www.alberta.ca/unpaid-oil-and-gas-
property-taxes.aspx). 

As a new action to address this issue, Municipal Affairs and Energy worked together to support the Minister 
of Energy in issuing a new directive to the Alberta Energy Regulator under the Responsible Energy Development 
Act, effective April 30, 2023. The payment of municipal taxes will now be a mandatory condition for the 

https://www.alberta.ca/unpaid-oil-and-gas-property-taxes.aspx
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Alberta Energy Regulator to approve licence transfers between oil and gas companies or to grant new 
licences. Under this process, Municipal Affairs will work with municipalities to compile and maintain a list of 
companies with unpaid taxes for the Alberta Energy Regulator to reference. 

Companies identified on the list that are involved in the purchase or sale of an existing licence, or applying 
for a new licence, will have to provide documentation to the Alberta Energy Regulator to confirm that tax 
arrears have been paid, will be paid as part of the sale agreement, or are subject to payment agreements in 
good standing. No additional red tape will be imposed on companies not identified on the tax arrears list. 

The government recognizes the importance of a fair and equitable assessment and property tax system, as 
well as the need for municipalities to collect taxes from oil and gas companies to continue providing 
programs and services to residents. Municipal Affairs will continue to work in collaboration with municipal 
partners and industry to monitor and address the impacts of unpaid taxes. 

Requisition Credit Programs 

Provincial Education Requisition Credit program  

In 2021, the Provincial Education Requisition Credit program was extended by an additional two years to 
the 2023 tax year. The budget for the program was $15 million for the 2022-23 intake and $15 million for 
the following year.  

This program supports municipalities as they address unpaid property taxes related to oil and gas properties. 
Municipal Affairs facilitates this program by accepting and reviewing applications from municipalities. 
Recommendations are then made to Education to provide successful applicants with an education property 
tax credit equal to the uncollectable education property taxes on delinquent oil and gas properties. Municipal 
stakeholders continue to react positively to the Provincial Education Requisition Credit program. For 2022- 
23, 43 municipalities submitted applications, for a total claim of $2.35 million.  

Designated Industrial Requisition Cancellations  

The province introduced the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit program in 2019 to address concerns 
raised by municipalities about unpaid property taxes from designated industrial property owners. If the 
municipality is unable to collect the designated industrial requisition tax from a property owner, it does not 
have to remit the requisition amount to the government, and can instead request cancellation through the 
Designated Industrial Requisition Credit Program. To streamline and reduce the administrative burden on 
municipalities, this program’s documentation and intake process was combined with the Provincial 
Education Requisition Credit program in 2020. When an application is approved, the Designated Industrial 
Property Tax Requisition is cancelled by a Ministerial Order issued by the Minister of Municipal Affairs. In 
2022-23, 42 municipalities filed applications for the Designated Industrial Requisition Credit, for a total of 
$60,622. This is a 20 per cent decrease from 52 applications received from municipalities the previous year, 
and a 70 per cent decrease in the total Designated Industrial Requisition Credit cancellation amount of 
$206,413 from the previous year. Additionally, to remove unnecessary administrative burdens, municipalities 
are not required to remit designated industrial property requisitions under $1,000 to the province, even 
though they are required to collect the requisition tax from designated industrial property owners. In 2022-
23, requisitions under $1,000 were cancelled for 213 municipalities, for a total of $39,588. This is similar to 
the $38,441 cancelled for 215 municipalities the previous year. 

Community Revitalization Levy  

The Community Revitalization Levy is a program that allows municipalities to borrow against future 
property tax revenues to cover infrastructure costs aimed at development in a specific area. The levies are 
authorized under the Municipal Government Act, and there are currently six established areas in Alberta:  
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1. Calgary’s Rivers District; 

2. Edmonton’s Belvedere; 

3. The Quarters (Edmonton); 

4. Capital City Downtown (Edmonton); 

5. Cochrane South-Central; and 

6. the recently approved Airdrie Downtown area. 

The total amount of Community Revitalization Levy revenues from municipal and education property taxes 
redirected from the five previously-approved Community Revitalization Levy areas combined was $86 
million for the 2022 tax year.  

Prior to establishing a community revitalization levy, a municipality is required to engage in discussions with 
the province regarding the development projects intended for the area. If provincial approval is provided, a 
community revitalization levy area is created, and the municipality specifies the intended development 
projects for the area in a community revitalization levy plan.  

In 2022-23, the revamped Community Revitalization Levy 
program was launched, which includes the following additions 
to the program.  

• Transparency and accountability around the use of 
community revitalization levies has been increased. This is 
achieved through annual reports on each Community 
Revitalization Levy, which provide the provincial 
government with detailed information on revenues, costs, 
and assessment changes. These reports better enable the 
tracking of a Community Revitalization Levy’s progress 
toward identified goals.  

• There is a maximum three per cent limit to the total property tax assessment base available for 
Community Revitalization Levy zones (i.e., the taxable assessment in all Community Revitalization Levy 
area(s) in a municipality may not exceed three per cent of the total taxable assessment in the 
municipality, based on the inception year of each levy). This limit helps ensure that the impacts of 
Community Revitalization Levy usage on general property tax rates is negligible. Prior to the 
Community Revitalization Levy program review there were no formal limits on levy usage for a 
municipality.  

• The “blight” requirement has been removed. This requirement meant that for an area to be eligible for a 
Community Revitalization Levy it required evidence of “economic blight.” However, “blight” was not 
clearly defined; and following the Community Revitalization Levy program review, the requirement now 
is that there are persistent barriers to redevelopment, with the Community Revitalization Levy program 
guidelines providing clear direction on what constitutes such barriers.   

In 2022, the City of Airdrie submitted an application to the province for a new community revitalization levy 
aimed at revitalizing their downtown core. The City of Airdrie Downtown Community Revitalization Levy 
Regulation was enacted by Order in Council on December 14, 2022, establishing the Airdrie Downtown 

To date, total incremental 
assessment in Cochrane’s 
Community Revitalization Levy 
area has been upwards of  
$140 million, which is 
approximately 74 per cent higher 
than was estimated in the initial 
plan and more than 2,635 per cent 
higher than the baseline 
assessment. 
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Community Revitalization Levy area. The increase in assessment as a result of new investment facilitated by 
this levy is projected to be up to $116 million.   

On December 31, 2022, the Town of Cochrane’s Community Revitalization Levy Regulation expired. The 
initial Community Revitalization Levy plan was based on a 20-year timeframe for planning and investment in 
infrastructure and revitalization projects. The Community Revitalization Levy Regulation stipulated an 
expiry date at the 10-year interval (December 31, 2022) of the community revitalization levy to trigger a 
review to ensure ongoing relevancy and necessity. A review of the Community Revitalization Levy plan was 
undertaken by Municipal Affairs and on December 14, 2022, the Cochrane Community Revitalization 
Regulation was extended to December 31, 2032. To date, the Cochrane Community Revitalization Levy has 
been the most successful of Alberta’s five community revitalization levies in terms of assessment growth. 
Renewing the Community Revitalization Levy Regulation increases the opportunity for continued growth in 
the area.   

Oversight of Assessment and Taxation System 

The Community Organization Property Tax Exemption Regulation, which sets out the criteria and 
conditions by which municipalities can make decisions to grant property tax exemptions to non-profit 
organizations, is scheduled to expire on December 31, 2023. A targeted stakeholder engagement was 
conducted to explore opportunities to streamline, modernize, and reduce red tape without impacting current 
policies. A survey was sent out to stakeholders in fall 2022. Survey responses were reviewed, and 
recommended options for amendments are under development.  

Intermunicipal Dispute Resolution Initiative  

The ministry offers proactive support to local governments as they explore ways to resolve conflicts, build 
better relationships, and improve communication between municipalities that share common boundaries or 
shared services.  

The use of mediation or other dispute resolution alternatives is encouraged as a way for municipalities to 
resolve issues before resorting to legal proceedings. Typically, intermunicipal issues resolved through 
mediation are in regard to annexation, land‑use planning, cost‑sharing, or the need for improved 
relationships.  

The ministry, in response to an identified need for alternatives to quasi-judicial appeals, has been providing 
intermunicipal dispute resolution support for 25 years. An advisory committee composed of municipal 
associations, the Alternative Dispute Resolution Institute of Alberta, and the Canadian Bar Association has 
supported the initiative. The ministry has supported a total of 162 mediations with an overall success rate of 
86 per cent since the initiative’s inception in 1998. 

As part of the intermunicipal dispute resolution process, municipalities will hire private-sector mediators 
and, when appropriate, the ministry may cover one-third of the funding for a mediation. The ministry 
maintains a roster of private-sector mediators with the assistance of representatives from the municipal 
associations and the Alternative Dispute Resolution Institute of Alberta. This roster gives municipalities 
access to a list of mediators with relevant training, experience, and an interest in intermunicipal mediation. 

In 2022-23, the ministry provided $30,000 in funding in support of two requests for mediation assistance 
involving an intermunicipal land-use dispute, and development of internal communication protocols.  

Because of the large number of intermunicipal mediation and collaboration projects involving intermunicipal 
collaboration frameworks and intermunicipal development plans from 2019 to 2021, the number of 
mediations was higher in those years. These numbers have decreased and as a result, there were fewer 
mediations in 2022-23.  



Results Analysis 

 

 

Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2022-23 57 

 

In 2022-23, 11 intermunicipal mediation and collaboration projects were completed, involving a total of 35 
municipalities and four First Nations.  

Collaborative Governance Initiative 

The Collaborative Governance Initiative offers proactive support to local governments to explore ways to 
build better relationships and improve communication and conflict management internally – within 
municipal administrations, between an administration and a council, within a council, and between a 
municipality and the public.  

Through the Collaborative Governance Initiative, the ministry will assist by: 

• assessing the most appropriate method to improve communication and strengthen relationships; 

• providing information sessions, training, and assessments of specific situations; 

• offering guidance on alternative dispute resolution options; and  

• helping to access funding from the Alberta Community Partnership program.  

Projects and initiatives that are funded are typically multi-year in scope, with the ministry providing ongoing 
support. 

In 2022-23, three municipalities accessed the initiative to deal with internal council conflicts and regional 
service issues, with the ministry providing $130,000 in funding support. 

Regional Services Commissions 

Regional services commissions are a long-standing and successful form of governance for the delivery of 
services on behalf of municipal members. Regional services commissions have their own distinct legal status 
and operate independently from the member municipalities, providing their own administration and 
operations. The board of directors of each commission provides governance and oversight and these boards 
are comprised of councillors from the member authorities, as well as any directors-at-large.  

As a commission, municipal authorities work collaboratively with each other to deliver effective and 
accessible services that are responsive to the needs of their communities. These authorities may include 
municipalities, First Nations, Metis Settlements, and armed forces bases. Regional services commissions can 
deliver one or more services, including water, wastewater, solid-waste management, property assessment, 
emergency services, land-use planning, and transit.  

The streamlined provisions put in place in 2020 (in the Municipal Government Act) relating to regional services 
commissions include reducing, and in most cases removing, the need for:  

• ministry approval for specific functions such as passing or revising board-of-director appointment 
bylaws; 

• disposals of assets; and  

• provision of services outside of members’ boundaries.  

Seventy-five regional service commissions, established under the former legislative framework, were 
maintained by Ministerial Order, ensuring their status and ability to continue operations was not affected. In 
2022-23, no new regional services commission were established. 
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As municipalities continue to seek efficiencies in service delivery for their residents, it is expected regional 
services commissions will continue to be a valuable regional option. 

Public Library Governance  

In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs continued to work toward reducing red tape within the Libraries Act and 
Libraries Regulation, legislation for which it is responsible. Municipal Affairs supports the enhancement of 
governance and management of public library boards through funding, network supports, in-person and 
online training, and direct advice to library stakeholders in response to queries. In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs 
staff provided advice and guidance to the Village of Glendon and Frog Lake First Nation as they each 
formed new library boards.  

Public libraries or outreach services are now available on numerous First Nation reserves and Metis 
Settlements throughout the province. Outreach services include collections or programs made available in a 
local community space where there is no permanent library. This can include collection materials such as 
books, movies, and other items made by or for Indigenous people. It can also include Indigenous programs 
such as traditional crafts and activities or programs with Elders. 

The Frog Lake First Nation and Fishing Lake Metis Settlement are also members of their local regional 
library systems. 

Public Library Provincial Funding  

By providing stable provincial funding for public libraries, Municipal Affairs ensures library service remains 
equitable for residents of communities across the province. In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs administered $37 
million for supporting library services. Of this, $30.5 million was direct operating grant funding to public 
library boards. This funding supports library service for residents of Alberta municipalities and neighbouring 
First Nation reserves and Metis Settlements. 

This funding also supported initiatives including:  

• the Provincial Public Library Network  to provide support for SuperNet connectivity in libraries at a 
cost of $2.5 million per year, interlibrary loan management and delivery, and e-content resources for all 
Alberta library users.;  

• a $1 million annual investment in a variety of electronic 
resources for all Alberta public libraries, including access 
to audiobooks, online international newspapers, and 
language-learning software through commercial platforms 
that widen the range, quantity, and quality of library 
resources available to residents throughout the province;  

• funding for the Read Alberta eBooks Collection, which 
makes more than 2,000 Alberta-published eBooks 
available to readers across the province, in partnership 
with the Book Publishers Association of Alberta;  

• the Prairie Indigenous Ebooks Collection, part of the 
Read Alberta ebooks collection, which has more than 200 
books written by Indigenous authors and published in 
Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba; and 

• in 2022, Municipal Affairs also began offering more than 150 issues of Alberta-published emagazines in 
partnership with the Alberta Magazine Publishers Association. 

Public libraries or outreach 
services (collections or programs 
made available in a local 
community space where there is 
no permanent library) are now 
available on numerous First Nation 
reserves and Metis Settlements 
throughout the province. The Frog 
Lake First Nation and Fishing Lake 
Metis Settlement are also 
members of their local regional 
library systems.  
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Municipal Affairs continues to support equitable access to library resources for people with print disabilities 
by providing $323,000 in combined funding to the National Network for Equitable Library Service and the 
Centre for Equitable Library Access. Part of the funding to the National Network for Equitable Library 
Service supports three accessible production internships at the University of Alberta School of Library and 
Information Studies. 

In 2016-17, Municipal Affairs began providing annual funding to three large urban libraries and six regional 
library systems to serve neighbouring Indigenous populations outside municipal boundaries, who were 
traditionally underserved. This funding continues, and in 2022-23, totaled $740,000.  

Minister’s Awards for Municipal and Public Library Excellence Award 

 
Since 2002, the Minister’s Awards for Municipal Excellence program has encouraged municipalities to share 
their successes by recognizing accomplishments in the provision of municipal services in Alberta. The 
Minister’s Awards for Excellence in Public Library Service was created in 2010. The two programs were 
combined in 2022-23 under the new name of the Minister’s Awards for Municipal and Public Library 
Excellence. 
 
Municipalities and public library boards were invited to submit initiatives that featured new and unique 
approaches to issues, streamlined processes for existing practices, and demonstrated creative community 
partnerships.  
 
Review committees received and reviewed 44 submissions for 2022. The committees were composed of 
representatives from Alberta Municipalities; the Rural Municipalities of Alberta; the Local Government 
Administration Association; the Alberta Rural Municipal Administrators’ Association; the Society of Local 
Government Managers; the Government Finance Officers Association; the Alberta Library Trustees’ 
Association; and the Library Association of Alberta. 
 
Based on the committees’ recommendations to the Minister, six municipalities and three public library 
boards were recognized for their successes in providing needed services and resources in their communities.  

Building Economic Strength Category 
Parkland County: Major Business Attraction Program 
 
Parkland County’s Major Business Attraction Program aims to attract investors and major industry to the 
area with a customized approach. The program brings together a dedicated team of business development 
officers, planners, engineers, and other county administration staff to aid in the process of either building or 
relocating a major business to Parkland County from start to finish. This program results in an expedited, 
collaborative, and efficient approval process, which under normal timelines would take two to three times 
longer and with significant uncertainty and cost to the business applicant. 
 
Enhancing Community Safety Category 
Strathcona County: Violence, Trauma and Suicide Prevention Protocol   
 
The Violence, Trauma and Suicide Prevention Protocol is a commitment by community partners to 
collectively respond to instances or threats of violence, trauma, and suicide. This community approach was 
designed to mitigate and/or respond to trauma experienced from violent events such as school shootings, 
bombings, homicide-suicides, or high-profile suicides. The protocol outlines the interconnected nature of 
violence, trauma, and suicide, and offers a unified approach to holistically support the community. Built on 
the foundational work of the North American Center for Threat Assessment and Trauma Response, this 
protocol is a structure and commitment that provides guidance on how the community and social ecosystem 
will come together to prevent and respond to violence and trauma in Strathcona County. The protocol was 
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signed by 16 local and provincial organizations on March 16, 2022, and is the first of its kind in North 
America. 
 
Partnership Category 
City of Calgary, with Partners Calgary Board of Education and Microsoft Canada: Level Up! Calgary Minecraft Challenge 
 
The City of Calgary’s Downtown Strategy team focused on leveraging the collective efforts of its public and 
private sector partners to respond to its economic challenges, drive economic recovery, and revitalize and 
transform the downtown. The team collaborated with the Calgary Board of Education and Microsoft 
Canada to launch Level Up, Calgary! This is the first student Minecraft: Education Edition design challenge 
of its kind in Canada. Students from all grade levels accessed a custom world, including the heart of 
Calgary’s downtown core rendered in Minecraft, and were asked to submit a design in response to the 
following design prompt: how might we reimagine our public spaces to enrich the lives of Calgarians and 
strengthen our community? Students restructured and rebuilt Calgary’s downtown in the pixelated world of 
Minecraft to demonstrate creativity, collaboration, and problem solving.  
 
The partnership with the Calgary Board of Education enabled the city to engage and start conversations with 
Calgary’s youth in order to gather ideas about revitalizing the downtown and to help shift the city’s thinking 
about the future of Calgary’s downtown. The technical aspect Microsoft was able to bring to the project 
made the project accessible to students. The project prompted young people to get engaged in addressing 
vibrancy in the downtown of their city; fostered understanding of the role they can play in the success of the 
city; and allowed them to learn how to become city builders. This project was launched in September 2021 
with student awards presented in March 2022. Throughout 2022, the students who won awards worked with 
city planners and architects to inform downtown projects.  

Public Library Services Category (serving under 10,000 population) 
**Note: two winners were identified within this category. 

 
Town of Banff Library Board: Library of Things 
Banff Public Library collaborated with Town of Banff Community Services and Resource Recovery to 
develop and implement an item lending program where all Banff Public Library patrons can borrow items 
that may be rarely used, hard to store, or expensive. The new collection contains more than 150 items 
ranging from power tools to cooking gadgets, and digital projectors and internet smart hubs to sewing 
machines. The Library of Things provides a resource for local families in a community where the cost of 
living is high and reliant on tourism and hospitality. At least a third of the population spends more than a 
third of their household income on housing costs, and the COVID-19 pandemic led to unemployment as 
high as 80 per cent at times. The Library of Things has both environmental and social purposes, as it is a 
lending program that aligns with the Town of Banff’s commitment to reducing community waste and 
consumption, and it contributes to social inclusion, accessibility, and affordability. Since October 2021, items 
have been borrowed more than 400 times and at least 52 new library memberships have been issued 
specifically so patrons can use the Library of Things.  

Town of Penhold Library Board: Adventure Awaits Summer Reading Program 
Penhold and District Library reinvented the Summer Reading Program by taking it directly to patrons during 
summer 2021. The program enabled children to learn about the world around them and develop literacy 
skills during a period when COVID-19 restricted traditional reading programs in the library and families 
were overwhelmed with virtual realities. The library team adapted a program with the mindset that personal 
contact with families still needed to happen, so it needed a personable and safe mobile environment for 
families. Each week, the library team travelled to a different location, bringing books, games, and crafts 
based on that theme for the week. These sites included lawns of private homes as well as daycares and day 
homes in Penhold and Red Deer County. The “Adventure Awaits” Summer Reading Program was unique, 
as it connected the community in a new way by providing fun adventures and promoting lifelong literacy, 
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and by offering a sense of renewed hope during a difficult summer. The Penhold and District Library’s 2021 
Summer Reading Program made 608 visits. 
 
Public Library Services Category (serving over 10,000 population) 
City of Edmonton Library Board: African and Caribbean Canadian Books in Colour 
 
African and Caribbean Canadian Books in Colour is a literature guide that celebrates the diversity of the 
Black Canadian experience. Developed by Edmonton Public Library, African and Caribbean Canadian 
Books in Colour features more than 300 fiction and non-fiction titles that cover a wide range of topics and 
reflect diverse Black Canadian experiences in a sensitive and nuanced way. Whether readers see themselves 
reflected in the stories, or are being introduced to new perspectives and experiences, the guide contains 
something for everyone. Organized by reading level from kindergarten to Grade 12, African and Caribbean 
Canadian Books in Colour is a fantastic resource for students, families, educators, and libraries of all kinds. 
 
Red Tape Reduction Category 
City of Edmonton: Permit and Licensing Improvement Initiative 
 
Launched in 2020, Edmonton’s Permit and Licensing Improvement initiative continued in 2021 with a goal 
of shortening timelines, improving consistency, and increasing predictability to create more certainty for 
development proposals, and increase viability of private sector investments in Edmonton. The objective of 
this initiative is to work with stakeholders to support quality of life for Edmontonians and the economic 
vibrancy of the city by enabling efficient and effective permit and licensing services. The initiative also aims 
to improve applicant experiences when interacting with the City of Edmonton’s permit and licensing 
services, increase city employee productivity, and enhance sustainability of the funding model.  
 
In 2020 and 2021, improvements implemented as a result of this initiative are estimated to have saved 
planning and development customers 260,933 days, and $4.6 million in delay costs annually, based on 
demonstrated reductions in permit timelines. In 2022, timeline reductions implemented through additional 
improvements are estimated to have saved applicants an additional $5.3 million and 67,600 days. 
 
Service Delivery Enhancement Category 
Brazeau County: Hamlet of Violet Grove Lagoon Constructed Floating Wetlands 
 
The Constructed Floating Wetlands system consists of low-density polyethylene platforms that float on the 
lagoon surface that allow the wetland plants to grow and thrive in perforated baskets, enhancing wastewater 
quality. The root systems of the plants grow into the wastewater, removing nutrients and providing surface 
area for bacteriological treatment. This Constructed Floating Wetlands system is the first of its kind in 
Alberta; it is proven to enhance the treatment of domestic wastewater in a lagoon system. The primary goal 
of this initiative was to improve the effluent quality using an innovative and natural treatment process. 
Although wetlands are nature’s filtration system and have been tried in warmer climates for treating 
wastewater, another goal was to prove they will enhance the effluent quality in a cold climate. The project 
produced data to prove the Constructed Floating Wetlands system improved the effluent quality and was 
effective in a cold climate environment. 
 
Smaller Municipalities Category 
Town of Sundre: The Town of Sundre Wastewater Project 
 
Many communities in Alberta currently use a traditional lagoon to treat their wastewater, and while they are 
reasonably inexpensive to operate, they take up a significant amount of land and up to 200 days to treat the 
wastewater. The advanced technology Sundre is deploying is efficient and designed specifically to outlast the 
lifespan of a lagoon. In comparison to a traditional lagoon, this technology has a significantly smaller 
footprint as the system treats raw sewage in less than 60 minutes.  
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Outcome Three: Albertans are protected with safe buildings, homes, and 
communities 

3.1 Align the safety system to a quality assurance framework that increases partner autonomy and 
accountability. 

Fire Services Training Program 

Municipal Affairs recognizes the important work done every day by firefighters and is committed to helping 
them perform their duties as they protect the public. While the provision of fire services is a municipal 
responsibility, the Government of Alberta recognizes that a strong provincial-municipal partnership is key to 
keeping Albertans safe.  

The Fire Services Training Program grants are key to supporting the safety of both firefighters and the 
public. In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs made enhancements to the program using feedback from the Alberta 
Fire Chiefs Association, which included simplifying the application process, alignment of grant criteria to fire 
services competencies, and enabling training based on local needs.   

The program distributes grant funding to supplement training supports for fire departments across 
municipalities. A total of $500,000 a year in funding is provided throughout the province. The ministry 
reviewed more than 70 applications and disbursed funds to 63 successful applicants in spring 2023. 
Successful applicants included municipal fire services, such as cities, towns, villages, counties, and 
improvement districts, as well as First Nations. 

Key expected outcomes of the grant program include: 
 
• Alberta communities are supported as they develop capacity to prevent, prepare for, and respond to 

identified risks; 

• training for fire services personnel remains current and is updated as required; and 

• training aligns with and supports community planning. 

As many fire departments, particularly in rural areas, rely on smaller tax bases and are primarily staffed by 
volunteer fire service members, the grants are critically important to ensuring current training of fire services 
members. The Fire Services Training Program supplements the existing training efforts of fire departments, 
enhancing the protection of firefighters and community safety. 

Quality Assurance Framework 

In Alberta, the public safety codes system includes all activities under the Safety Codes Act, the New Home 
Buyer Protection Act, safety codes and standards, and numerous stakeholder partners involved in administering 
the legislation. The safety codes incorporate 10 disciplines: amusement rides, boilers and pressure vessels, 
building, electrical, elevating devices, fire, gas, plumbing, private sewage, and ski lifts. The system is designed 
to protect Albertans in their communities by reducing the risk of harm and loss in Alberta’s buildings, 
facilities, and associated infrastructure. The quality assurance framework articulates roles, responsibilities, 
and overall expectations of all safety codes system partners, and identifies five desired outcomes for the 
safety codes system, which are: 

• effective oversight of safety codes system delivery; 

• clearly defined roles and expectations; 

• risk-based strategic priorities informed by data; 
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• collaboration with partners/stakeholders in the safety codes system; and 

• an accountable safety codes system through a defined system of monitoring. 

Specifically, the framework: 

• provides direction and support so the system is responsive and aligned to meet the needs of system 
partners, the economy, and the public; 

• provides opportunities to set policy priorities based on evidence, prioritize work, and collaborate with 
safety codes system partners to leverage expertise; 

• serves as the basis for the ongoing improvement of the safety codes system and provides a foundation 
to inform decisions on future direction; 

• outlines an accountability system that focuses on a more strategic and transparent approach to planning, 
and a way to communicate priorities; and 

• identifies processes for continuous improvement through monitoring and evaluation. 

The quality assurance framework provides the guiding direction and vision for the various initiatives of the 
department and its safety codes system partners. 

Assurance Reviews 

As part of its role in safety codes system oversight, Municipal Affairs staff determines whether 
administrative partners with appointed or delegated responsibilities – including the Safety Codes Council, 
the Alberta Boilers Safety Association, and the Alberta Elevating Devices and Amusement Rides Safety 
Association – are providing quality services that align to and mitigate risks to achieving system outcomes.  

Design and implementation of an assurance review model continued in 2022-23. Municipal Affairs worked 
with its partners to develop the main components of the model including a system-level logic model, that 
will be common for all three administrative partners. The next steps will include detailed design activities 
unique to each partner, such as the identification of performance metrics and application of evaluation 
criteria for each outcome. Overall, the assurance review is designed to complement other reporting 
requirements and accountabilities, such as financial or quality management audits. Assurance review results 
will enable the ministry to gather information that better substantiates and illustrates the performance of the 
system. The first assurance review of the Safety Codes Council is expected to be started in 2023, with full 
implementation of review activities for all three partners targeted for 2025-26. 

Data Analytics 

In 2022-23, Municipal Affairs began developing a new data strategy to provide guidance and direction for 
the programs and services within the ministry’s public safety codes and standards system. 

Data analytics is considered a foundational piece in supporting informed decision-making within the 
programs and services of the ministry’s public safety codes system. As an example, Municipal Affairs staff 
are working on reviewing statistical data collection and fire reporting. Specifically, Municipal Affairs aims to 
produce meaningful statistics on fire reports to help inform provincial fire safety and prevention initiatives. 
To further support the needs of fire services stakeholders, Municipal Affairs is working with the Alberta Fire 
Chiefs Association to consider how fire-related information can be shared, and data leveraged, to enhance 
safety in communities across the province.  
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Administrative Penalty Program 

Administrative penalty provisions under the Safety Codes Act provide an additional tool to enforce and 
promote compliance with the Act. These provisions came into effect in 2020. An administrative penalty may 
be imposed by the administrator of administrative penalties when a person has failed to comply with:  

• certain provisions of the Safety Codes Act;  

• an order made under the Act; or  

• a condition in a permit, certificate, or variance issued under the Act.  

Administrative penalties support improved compliance outcomes, and do not replace orders and 
prosecution under the Safety Codes Act. A penalty can be issued as a single amount, or an amount for each 
day the contravention or failure to comply continues to a maximum daily amount of $10,000. The most a 
penalty can cumulatively be is $100,000. 

As an enforcement tool under the Safety Codes Act, administrative penalties expand the compliance tools 
within the safety codes system by providing an additional option for managing quality assurance – it 
provides an additional option when an order, or multiple orders, have been issued, or when pursuing lengthy 
court proceedings is not appropriate.  

Program staff have been meeting with stakeholder groups across the province, sharing information on the 
Administrative Penalty Program. As the goal of the program is to aid stakeholders in gaining compliance 
with the Safety Codes Act, the majority of interactions with the program have led to compliance without the 
application of a penalty, which is a positive outcome for the program and the safety codes system. While the 
potential for an administrative penalty under the Safety Codes Act serves as a deterrent, during 2022-23, the 
Administrative Penalty Program processed just two penalty requests that were both concluded when the 
contravener came into compliance with the Safety Codes Act, which is a success under the program. Program 
staff have worked on one additional penalty request over the past year, and it has not yet been concluded. 

Accreditation and Certification 

Municipal Affairs is accredited by two international boards to administer provincial testing and certification 
to National Fire Protection Association Professional Qualification fire fighter standards. The Pro Board is a 
fire service system for the accreditation of agencies that certify candidates to the various disciplines and 
levels identified in the National Fire Protection Association Professional Qualification series of standards. 
The International Fire Service Accreditation Congress is a not-for-profit, peer-driven, self-governing system 
of both fire service certifying entities and higher education fire-related degree programs. Its mission is to 
plan and administer a high-quality, uniformly delivered accreditation system with an international scope. 

In 2022-23, the Pro Board conducted an onsite audit as part of a five-year cycle of audits, and re-
accreditation for the next five years was awarded to the ministry based on the results of this audit. An onsite 
audit by the International Fire Service Accreditation Congress is scheduled for summer 2023.  

The Alberta Fire Service Certification Program serves municipal fire departments, industrial fire 
departments, and pre-employment schools across Alberta. As the program is voluntary, local jurisdictions 
and businesses chose whether to participate and to which standard they will certify, based on their own 
employee competency requirements. The program supports the professional development of Alberta’s fire 
service by providing testing and certification based on national and provincial standards of practice, such as 
the Canadian incident command system and Alberta’s Occupational Health and Safety Code. This promotes 
consistency of knowledge and skill development within the industry, and supports labour mobility, universal 
deployment, and regional, provincial and interprovincial mutual aid.  

The program is responsible for: 
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• developing and maintaining assessment tools (exams and skill evaluations) for all standards for which 
the program is accredited; 

• overseeing the administration of exams and evaluations by approved proctors and evaluators;  

• reviewing appeals and investigating concerns;  

• scoring exams and storing student records; and 

• reviewing applications for certification and issuing certificates. 

Generally, between five- and six-thousand fire services exams are administered each year, with 4,978 written 
in 2022-23. The Alberta Fire Service Certification Program maintains records for more than 16,000 students.  

Municipal Affairs continues to foster the development of high quality programs by optimizing fire 
certification and accreditation services in Alberta. This includes incorporating feedback about firefighting 
testing through ongoing interaction with the Alberta Fire Chiefs Association. 

Appointments to the Safety Codes Council and Delegated Administrative Organizations 

The Minister of Municipal Affairs appoints the chair of the board of the Safety Codes Council, public 
representatives to the council’s technical sub-councils, and members to the boards of two delegated 
administrative organizations – the Alberta Boilers Safety Association and the Alberta Elevating Devices and 
Amusement Rides Safety Association. Public member representatives ensure Albertans are represented in 
decisions that affect public safety. 

The Safety Codes Council’s sub-councils provide industry, municipal and other safety experts advice and 
input to the department’s review and development of safety codes. The sub-councils also contribute to 
developing standards and compliance monitoring criteria for accredited organizations, as well as hearing and 
deciding appeals of orders and written notices. The sub-councils help establish competency requirements 
and evaluate the effectiveness and quality of training for safety codes officers.  

The sub-councils are composed of volunteer representatives from municipal governments, educational and 
training institutions, industry, trades and labour, professional organizations, persons with disabilities, and 
other groups or organizations with an interest in the disciplines. There are 12 sub-councils: amusement rides, 
barrier free, building, electrical, electrical utilities, elevators, fire, gas, passenger ropeways, plumbing, pressure 
equipment, and private sewage. 

In 2022-23, the Minister appointed a new chair to the board of directors of the Safety Codes Council, 
appointed or reappointed four public member representatives to Safety Codes Council technical sub-
councils and made one public member appointment to the Alberta Boilers Safety Association’s board of 
directors. As a result of these appointments, the Safety Codes Council’s board of directors will have 
continued strategic leadership in carrying out the government’s public safety policy, and the Safety Codes 
Council technical sub-councils and the Alberta Boilers Safety Association’s board of directors will continue 
to benefit from public representation. 

3.2 Represent Alberta and its interests, including the reduction of trade barriers, during the 
development of national and international codes for potential adoption in Alberta.  

Safety Code Development 

Municipal Affairs represents the province through membership on various committees related to the 
adoption of codes and standards. Participation on these committees does not reflect any binding agreement 
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to Alberta in relation to code adoption, and Alberta maintains its constitutional authority to adopt, or not 
adopt, construction codes.  

Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement 

In 2019, the Construction Codes Reconciliation Agreement, under the Canadian Free Trade Agreement’s 
Regulatory Reconciliation and Cooperation Table, was developed to facilitate reconciliation of provincial 
construction codes between federal, provincial and territorial parties. The intent of the agreement was to 
achieve the following three outcomes: 

• reduce or eliminate differences and variation in the technical provision of the construction codes; 

• introduce the timely adoption of construction codes, including the 2020 National Building Codes; and 

• establish a transformed national code development system to meet the needs of the parties. 

As a result of collaborative work by federal, provincial, and territorial officials under the agreement, the 
Canadian Table for Harmonized Construction Codes Policy, which is a Deputy Minister Table co-chaired by 
the provinces/territories and the National Research Council, was established in November 2022. Supporting 
the Deputy Minister Table is the Canadian Board for Harmonized Construction Codes (Codes Board) which 
is represented by provincial/territorial officials that make recommendations to, and take direction from, the 
Deputy Minister Table. A new Stakeholder Advisory Council was also established to ensure industry and 
other organizations with an interest in safety codes are represented in the code development process. 
Through its participation in both the previous and new national code systems, Alberta has realized a variety 
of benefits while retaining autonomy to make decisions that are in the best interest of the province. 
Previously, the provinces and territories were limited to providing input rather than being able to direct the 
development of the national codes system. While the input was prioritized, it did not carry the force of 
direction. Conversely, the Deputy Minister Table and the Codes Board can direct the technical code 
committees to implement the policy direction on the content of the national codes. This grants Alberta 
much more influence over construction safety codes including the building, fire, plumbing, and energy 
efficiency codes, while ensuring the federal government is not able to dictate unilateral code policy. 

Prior to the formation of the new Codes Board, Alberta was a member and chair of the Provincial 
Territorial Policy Advisory Committee on Codes, an advisory committee to the Standards Council of 
Canada. The committee, which was composed of representatives appointed by each provincial and territorial 
government, facilitated participation in Canada’s national standardization network. Alberta continues to be a 
member of the National Public Safety Advisory Committee, which provides input and advice on the 
development of safety codes and standards that apply to pressure equipment, electrical systems, private 
sewage systems, gas systems, and elevating devices.  

Timely Code Adoption 

Municipal Affairs manages the release of new codes to keep buildings, facilities, and equipment safe and 
operational. The codes establish minimum acceptable standards for construction, fire protection, and energy 
efficiency to provide affordable, safe, and energy efficient buildings and homes.  

On December 1, 2022, an amendment to the Elevating Devices Code Regulation came into force that allows 
timely code adoption to apply to published codes. Under timely code adoption, codes are adopted in a 
predictable manner so that industry, municipalities, and other sectors such as educational institutions can 
confidently plan and prepare for new code changes. It also ensures Albertans are able to use the latest 
technologies and innovations as soon as possible. The amendment to the Elevating Devices Code 
Regulation enables a new edition of elevator codes, already adopted through regulation, to come into force 
one year after its publication. The one-year timeframe allows the Alberta government to identify and review 
potential issues in a code edition. This is in addition to the review done during the development of the next 
version of the code. 
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This update marks the final safety discipline to join the other nine safety disciplines (building, electrical, fire, 
gas, plumbing, pressure equipment, amusement rides, passenger ropeways, and private sewage) in allowing 
timely code adoption. This process supports code harmonization, which helps reduce variations in provincial 
codes and supports interprovincial trade, investment, and labour mobility.  

Alberta 2020 National Building Code Developments 

In March 2022, the National Research Council of Canada published new editions of the national building, 
fire, and energy codes. Municipal Affairs worked collaboratively with stakeholders to ensure the updated 
codes aligned with the best interests of Albertans. The conclusions from this collaboration were that Alberta 
would: 

• continue to exclude large farm buildings from the Alberta editions of the building and fire codes; and 

• adopt tier 1 as the energy efficiency standard for the province.  
 

Large Farm Buildings 

Maintaining the exclusion of large farm buildings preserves the affordability of the agricultural industry and 
protects jobs and the economy while maintaining public safety. The agricultural industry and the Rural 
Municipalities of Alberta support this decision. There is little evidence to suggest the safety of large farm 
buildings presents sufficient risk in Alberta to merit changing the province’s policy of excluding these 
buildings from the code. There is a low frequency of incidents impacting humans in these buildings, and 
there was an overwhelming consensus among the agricultural industry that the safety of large farm buildings 
is not a concern. They cited that most large farm buildings are professionally engineered, developed with the 
necessary permits (plumbing, gas, and electrical but not building), and insured. Therefore, Municipal Affairs 
supported continuing to exclude large farm buildings from the Alberta editions of the building and fire 
codes.  

Energy Efficiency Tiers 

The new editions of the National Building Code and National Energy Code for Buildings have a series of 
energy efficiency tiers that jurisdictions may use to establish energy efficiency minimums. The tiers use an 
incremental approach to achieving more energy-efficient buildings. The predetermined tiers are designed to 
increase energy efficiency and provide choices on the performance level and cost most appropriate for 
provinces and territories. Five tiers are included in the code, which allow jurisdictions to choose how they 
want to progress, Tier 1 being the lowest level and Tier 5 being the highest energy efficiency.  

After careful analysis and review, Municipal Affairs opted to adopt Tier 1 energy efficiency in the Alberta 
Building Codes. Tier 1 allows Alberta to set a consistent framework for achieving higher levels of energy 
efficiency in housing and small buildings, while maintaining the affordability of home construction. There is 
consensus and preference among industry, including builders, to implement Tier 1 in 2023-24. 

3.3 Reduce red tape for home builders to lower the regulatory cost that has contributed to the 
increased price of new housing. 

Risk-based Inspections 

Municipal Affairs and the Safety Codes Council work in partnership with Alberta’s municipalities, 
corporations, and other accredited organizations to provide an effective, accountable, and affordable safety 
codes system. Through the council and the administrator of accreditation, municipalities, regional services 
commissions and corporations can become accredited to administer the Safety Codes Act within their 
jurisdiction. Private agencies under the oversight of the Alberta Safety Codes Authority, a division of the 
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Safety Codes Council, are accredited to provide permit, inspection, and compliance services to accredited 
and unaccredited areas. Municipalities, regional services commissions, and corporations are accredited by 
discipline and may use accredited agencies to deliver services in code disciplines in which the municipality or 
organization is not accredited. In 2022-23, the council conducted a full review of the accreditation program. 
The purpose of the review was to consult safety codes system stakeholders across Alberta and collect input 
on:  

• ways to implement risk-based approaches to the delivery of safety codes services; 

• mechanisms that strengthen the accountability of accredited organizations; and 

• improvement opportunities that create efficiencies in the system as a whole.  

Based on the results of this review, stakeholders noted the most pressing priority for Alberta’s safety code 
system was enabling and adopting new technologies to support permit reviews and inspections. These new 
technologies will offer municipalities flexibility and allow inspection resources to be utilized based on local 
data analysis, so inspection resources can be focused in areas where greater risk is identified. This shift to 
risk-based inspections would align with the Quality Assurance Framework’s desired outcome around 
strategic priorities that are informed by data.  

The council published the findings to its website in March 2023, and are engaging stakeholders on minimum 
requirements for accreditation tiers and identifying data required to understand system performance and 
assess risks, to inform decision-making related to the implementation of risk-based inspections. 

Residential Protection Program 

The Residential Protection Program is responsible for overseeing and enforcing the New Home Buyer Protection 
Act, which establishes regulatory requirements for new home warranty and residential builder licensing. The 
program’s objectives include: 

• effective and efficient service delivery that provides value for Albertans; 

• ensuring new home warranty and builder licensing protects homeowners and holds residential builders 
accountable; and 

• promoting code compliance and best practices in the 
construction of new homes. 

Municipal Affairs has collected stakeholder and program input 
since the inception of new home buyer protections in Alberta. This 
input has identified potential issues and opportunities to improve 
the program.  

Through targeted sessions in June 2022 and an online public 
survey conducted over a four-week period in November and 
December 2022, Municipal Affairs gathered feedback from 
Albertans on homebuyer protection policies and programs. 

The engagement is part of a programs and policies review that will 
provide opportunities to improve protections for Albertans who 
are purchasing new homes, which could include the development 
of new policies, programs, or legislation. Participants shared 
feedback on: 

A unit is a home. This could be 
a single-family home, 
condominium, townhouse, 
duplex, or ready-to-
move/manufactured home. For 
the fiscal period ending March 
31, 2023, there were 24,364 
new home registrations in 
Alberta.  

There were 2,573 builders with 
an active residential builder 
licence for the fiscal period 
ending March 31, 2023 - 
compared to 2,536 licenses for 
the fiscal period ending  
March 31, 2022.  
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• education opportunities and navigating the home warranty system; 

• an advisory group focused on home warranty; 

• builder competencies; 

• requirements for owner builders; and 

• the home warranty claims dispute resolution process. 

Municipal Affairs is reviewing the feedback and determining next steps. 

Performance Measure 3.a: Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical 
failure of buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta 

The 2022-23 results for this performance metric reflect the 2022 calendar year. In 2022, there were a 
combined total of 28 injuries and fatalities due to mechanical and/or structural failure in the ten measured 
disciplines in the safety codes system, compared to 30 in 2021. The relatively small number of injuries and 
fatalities suggest there continues to be a low level of risk in the system.  

There is an overall downward trend for this performance measure, with a noted decrease in the 2020-21 
results and an increase in results in the following years. This may be due, in part, to widespread behavioural 
changes from COVID-19 pandemic, and the subsequent increase may be reflective of a return to pre-
COVID activity and increased interaction with structural or mechanical components of the various safety 
codes disciplines.  

The majority of injuries and fatalities in 2022-23 (54 per cent, or 15 incidents) were in the fire discipline, with 
the next highest number (25 per cent or seven incidents) in the elevating devices discipline.  

The low presence of injuries and fatalities when reviewed in combination with performance indicator 3.b 
indicates the majority of injuries and fatalities in the safety codes system are not due to mechanical or 

*In 2022 the target was met, as the calculation shows, however, there are known gaps in the fire data 

provided by some municipalities, and it is unclear how the actual result may be influenced. 
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structural failure, and suggests a low level of risk in the system, consistent with the ministry’s mandate to 
minimize risk in the public safety codes system. 

Note: Actuals shown reflect the source data available at a given point in time. They represent a “snapshot” 
in time and are not adjusted once reported. As additional reports for previous periods are entered, the 
source data may change. This is especially true for numbers involving the fire discipline, which make up a 
large share of the incidents reported here. 

Performance Indicator 3.b: Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated 
systems not caused by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta 

In 2022, there were 224 injuries or fatalities identified across the safety disciplines that were not caused by 
structural or mechanical failures. Given the population of Alberta for 2022 was recorded as 4,601,314, the 
number of injuries or fatalities per 100,000 is 4.87.  

This was an increase of 26 incidents from the 198 incidents reported in 2021, 94 more than the 130 incidents 
reported in 2020. This may be reflective of a return to pre-COVID activity and increased interactions with 
the disciplines that comprise the safety codes system. 

Note: Actuals shown reflect the source data available at a given point in time. They represent a “snapshot” 
in time and are not adjusted once reported. As additional reports for previous periods are entered, the 
source data may change. This is especially true for numbers involving the fire discipline, which make up a 
large share of the incidents reported here. 

Initially this indicator only reported on six of the 10 safety disciplines (fire, electrical, pressure equipment, 
elevating devices, amusement rides, and passenger ropeways), but was expanded to include the remaining 
disciplines under the Safety Codes Act, (building, plumbing, gas, private sewage), with the intention to update 
numbers for all disciplines annually. 

Most of this year-over-year change is attributable to a significant increase in the number of incidents 
reported in the elevating devices discipline. In 2022, the discipline recorded 88 incidents compared to the 57 
recorded in 2021. Multiple human factors contribute to incidents: however, it would appear that there are no 

*There are known gaps in the fire data provided by some municipalities, which may influence the 2022 

result. 
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design issues that needed to be addressed. There were also increases in electrical, amusement rides, and 
passenger ropeway incidents offset by decreases in fire, gas, and pressure equipment incidences. 

The data from this indicator, when reviewed in combination with performance measure 3.a, indicates that 
the vast majority of injuries and fatalities in the safety codes system are due to human error. These results 
point to opportunities to engage with cross-ministry and system stakeholders to influence safety. 

Performance Indicator 3.c: Number of reported fires not caused by structural or mechanical failure 
of buildings and associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta 

The performance indicator result for 2022 is lower than 2021, which was an anomaly compared to the 
decreasing trend from the three previous years. The 2022 result is a return to more typical rates seen in 
recent years.  

There are known gaps in the data. Municipalities upload data to the ministry’s Fire Electronic Reporting 
System by way of batch files generated from their records management systems. As some municipalities 
have implemented new records management systems, there have been ongoing issues with batch file 
creation. Some data is missing for 2021 and 2022. While this data gap explains part of the decrease seen 
from 2021 to 2022, preliminary analysis suggests the 2022 rate would still be lower if the data set were 
complete. Ministry staff continue to work with municipalities to resolve known data gaps as quickly as 
possible. 

The change in reporting numbers may be due to a multitude of factors. In addition to ongoing 
implementation of municipal records management systems (as outlined above), other influences include: an 
underlying decrease in fire activity across the province; changes in fire reporting practice among the fire 
agencies and insurance adjusters that provide the information to the Fire Electronic Reporting System; data 
gaps; or a combination of these factors. The distributed nature of Alberta’s fire reporting infrastructure 
makes complete awareness of all fires difficult to determine. Staff continue to work with fire services and 
stakeholder groups to ensure awareness of data reporting requirements, as well as the importance of data 
accuracy and completeness. 

*Note: Indicators from previous years are recalculated using the most up-to-date information on fire reports 

in the system, to capture corrections and late-arriving reports from previous years. 
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A single fire event can generate a number of individual reports. For example, a fire that destroys a home, an 
exterior garage, and vehicles parked on a driveway may have four or more reports filed, all for the same fire 
event. A fire on a farm may include one report for each outbuilding or piece of equipment affected. A fire in 
an apartment building may include reports for each unit that sustained fire or smoke damage (referred to as 
exposure fires). Thus, while the number of reports is a proxy for the fire events, it is not the same as the 
actual number of fire events.  

The ministry continues to monitor the reports-to-events ratio as part of a general examination of fire 
reporting trends, and to further understand materiality and evaluate this performance indicator. 
Understanding how changes in reporting practices over time have affected reports is critical if fire reports 
are to act as a proxy for fire events in Alberta. Note this analysis will also attempt to account for the trend of 
exposure fires caused by changes in building codes and practices that mitigate the likelihood of fire spread. 
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Land and Property Rights Tribunal: Albertans receive fair, timely, and well-
reasoned decisions from the Land and Property Rights Tribunal 

When government decisions impact the rights of citizens or where there is conflict between the competing 
interests of individuals, industry, or municipalities, the Land and Property Rights Tribunal provides 
Albertans with fair, timely, and well-reasoned decisions on a variety of matters, including land-use planning, 
assessment, development, and compensation disputes involving surface rights and expropriation. The 
overriding consideration and true measure of the success of the tribunal is that parties who appear before it 
feel that, win or lose, they have been treated fairly.  

The tribunal’s key objectives are to: 

• fairly adjudicate appeals on matters relating to 
land-use planning, development, compensation, 
assessment, and other disputes referred to the 
tribunal; 

• provide fair decisions on surface rights matters and 
to reduce timelines for issuing decisions by 
modernizing processes through technology; and  

• provide certification training for municipal board 
members and clerks of Assessment Review Boards 
and Subdivision and Development Appeal Boards.   

To address the rapid increase in growth the tribunal 
has experienced – in terms of caseload and complexity 
– and the corresponding increase in the number of 
staff and appointed tribunal members, the tribunal 
initiated an organizational realignment in 2022-23. A 
renewed focus on member training, including 
specialized training sessions for complex subject 
matters, helps ensure members have the knowledge 
required to fairly and effectively consider appeals and 
applications.  

Annexations 

The annexation process allows municipalities to 
acquire land for future development or to bring 
municipal infrastructure within its boundaries. 
However, this may have an impact on the rights of 
individual property owners and the rights and duties of 
the neighbouring municipalities or local authorities. 
While Cabinet is the ultimate decision-maker on 
whether an annexation is approved, the tribunal makes 
a recommendation to the Minister of Municipal Affairs 
on whether an annexation should proceed.  

Persons and municipalities affected by a proposed 
annexation have the right to voice their concerns prior to the tribunal making a recommendation. 
Annexations are usually high-profile as they often involve a significant amount of intermunicipal 
compensation and impact the assessment, taxation, and land use of hundreds of properties for decades. 

Land and Property Rights Tribunal 
at a Glance, 2022-23 

2022-23 budget estimate  
$6,920,000 

Fulltime employees  
45 

Number of tribunal members 
74 

Applications/appeals/complaints,  
by type –  

Annexation: 3 
Subdivision and development: 109 
Intermunicipal disputes: 0 
Section 619 appeals: 0 
Off-site levy appeals: 1 
Minister referrals: 2 
Designated Industrial Property  
complaints: 43 
Surface rights applications: 5,207 
Expropriation applications: 44 

Recovery of compensation amounts  
directed for payment 
$17,213,523 

Number of certification training 
sessions  
78 

Number of participants in certification 
training 
408 
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While transferring land between jurisdictions can create conflict – for municipalities, other local authorities, 
the affected landowners, and the public – more than 72 per cent of all annexations approved in Alberta since 
1995 have been uncontested (with no objection from any party) so the tribunal was able to process these 
applications without conducting a public hearing. Only three per cent of all annexations processed by the 
tribunal were the result of municipalities not being able to reach agreement on the terms of the annexation. 

Annexation Orders in Council - 1995 to March 2023 

(Not including amending Orders in Council) 

 

Objection Source Total % 

N/A (Uncontested - No Objection) 215 72% 

Landowner/Public (Contested) 74 25% 

Other Municipality (Contested) 9 3% 

Total 298 100% 

 
In 2022-23, the tribunal issued recommendations to the Minister for two uncontested annexations. 
Currently, 24 municipalities have filed notices of intent to annex with the tribunal and are in the process of 
developing annexation applications. Municipalities must undertake extensive public consultation prior to 
submitting the final annexation report and this may take months, or even years, depending on the amount of 
land requested, the number of landowners, and other factors.  

The tribunal has transitioned from in-person to virtual hearings over the past three years for all matters. 
However, it has been particularly challenging for annexation hearings, as members of the public are entitled 
to be heard and there is no requirement for advance notice of participation. Despite this, tribunal staff were 
able to conduct lengthy and complex virtual annexation hearings that were accessible to the public. Moving 
forward, given the complexities with holding large public hearings virtually, the tribunal will transition back 
to conducting annexation hearings in-person. 

Subdivision and Development Appeals 

Decisions by local authorities to grant or deny subdivision 
and development approvals can result in permanent changes 
to the community. Without appropriate approvals, the actions 
of one landowner can have a detrimental effect on the 
environment or on the rights of neighbouring owners to use 
and enjoy their properties. For example, a new rural 
residential development may not be appropriate next to a 
confined feeding operation, heavy industrial development, a 
landfill, or sour gas well.   

Under the Municipal Government Act decisions that have an 
impact beyond the local community are heard by the tribunal 
instead of the local subdivision and development appeal 
board. The Act defines these appeals as having “provincial 
interest.” Provincial interest for subdivision appeals includes appeals where the lands are in the green area 
(i.e., the forested area of the province); within a prescribed distance from a highway, body of water, historical 
site, wastewater treatment facility, or landfills; and appeals that involve specific provincial approvals, licences, 
permits or authorizations such as approvals from the Natural Resources Conservation Board, Alberta 

For subdivision appeals in  
2022-23, the range of days 
between closing the hearing and 
issuing the decision was zero to 
49, with an average of nine days. 
From the date of the hearing to 
decision, the range was five to  
86 days, with an average of  
32 days. For subdivision appeals 
in 2022-23, the median number of 
days between the end of the 
hearing and the decision was 28 
days.  
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Energy Regulator, Alberta Utilities Commission, or the Minister of Environment and Protected Areas or the 
Minister of Forestry, Parks and Tourism. 

While the number of subdivision appeals has remained relatively constant, the complexity of those matters 
has increased. In 2022-23, 34 of the 40 subdivision appeals proceeded to a hearing, which required the 
tribunal to provide notice to 883 affected parties with 130 people attending hearings. In 2021-22, 41 of the 
42 subdivision appeals filed proceeded to a hearing with notice being provided to 1,562 affected parties with 
239 people attending. 

In the tribunal’s first fiscal year of hearing development 
appeals (2020-21), there were 32 appeals. By 2022-23, that 
number has more than doubled to 69. Sixty-four of these 
appeals proceeded to a hearing, representing 44 days of 
hearings. Notice was provided to 1,961 affected parties, with 
247 parties participating in the hearings. 

The Municipal Government Act requires that both subdivision 
appeals and development appeals be scheduled for a hearing 
within 60 and 30 days of filing, respectively. Decisions must be 
issued within 30 days and 15 days, respectively, after concluding the hearing for these appeals.  

For subdivision appeals in 2022-23, the range of days between closing the hearing and issuing the decision 
was zero to 49, with an average of nine days. From the date of the hearing to decision, the range was five to 
86 days, with an average of 32 days.  

In some complex cases, additional information may be required and the hearings are not closed until the 
panel is satisfied it has all the information it needs to make an informed decision. The tribunal meets this 
deadline in all but the most complex decisions. 

Other Land-Use Planning Matters 

Intermunicipal Disputes 

When a land-use bylaw adopted by a municipality has, or may have, a detrimental effect on an adjacent 
municipality, there is the option of an appeal to the tribunal to have the disputed bylaw repealed or 
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For development appeals in  
2022-23, the range of days 
between closing the hearing and 
issuing the decision was six to 25, 
with an average of 13 days. From 
the date of the hearing to decision, 
the range was seven to 73 days, 
with an average of 15 days. 
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amended. Recent examples include major commercial developments in one municipality putting pressure on 
the existing transportation infrastructure of the neighbouring municipality. No intermunicipal disputes were 
filed in 2022-23.  

Section 619 Appeals 

Under the Municipal Government Act, licences, permits, approvals or other authorizations granted by provincial 
regulatory agencies prevail over the statutory plans, land-use bylaw and decisions by the local authorities. 
When the decision of a local authority is inconsistent with a licence, permit, or approval of a provincial 
regulator an appeal can be filed with the tribunal under Section 619.  

These appeals are rare but of great importance when they are heard, because even a single appeal can affect 
hundreds and potentially thousands of landowners, and often involve issues of great complexity.  

While the tribunal did not receive any Section 619 appeals in 2022-23, it received two in the previous fiscal 
year, resulting in a lengthy and complex hearing lasting five weeks in 2022.   

Off-Site Levy Appeals 

Offsite levy bylaws allow municipalities to impose levies on property at time of subdivision or development 
to pay for new or expanded facilities for water supply, sewage, storm sewage, roads, community recreation, 
fire halls, police stations and libraries. The Municipal Government Act and the Off-Site Levies Regulation 
contain restrictions on off-site levy bylaws. For example, they must identify the area benefitting from the 
facility in question and cannot require an offsite levy on a property for the same purpose more than once. 
Offsite levy bylaws must also identify the areas benefitting from an improvement funded by a levy, and there 
must be a correlation between an off-site levy and the benefits to new development.  

The Municipal Government Act allows anyone directly affected to appeal an off-site levy bylaw to the tribunal 
within 90 days of the day it was passed if its provisions do not meet the regulated criteria and principles.  

Citizens may appeal the imposition of off-site levies under section 648(2) or (2.1) of the Municipal Government 
Act. 

Appeals of off-site levies are rare, but complex and in 2022-23, the tribunal received one off-site levy appeal 
that is still ongoing in 2023-24.  

Minister Referrals 

The Minister of Municipal Affairs has the power to refer disputes to the tribunal for consideration. The 
tribunal may conduct a public hearing and based on the evidence presented, make a recommendation to the 
Minister. In 2022-23, two matters were referred to the tribunal for recommendation.  

The first involved the City of Edmonton’s 2019 annexation of land from the County of Leduc and the 
Town of Beaumont. The issues included questions raised by the city about the legal land descriptions and 
related tax provisions reflected in Order in Council 359/2018. Multiple proceedings were conducted with a 
final recommendation issued in winter 2023. An amending Order in Council was signed by the Lieutenant 
Governor in Council on March 22, 2023.  

The second ordered the tribunal to inquire into and make recommendations related to a dispute about the 
fees being charged to a road user by the operator of a former forestry road. Although a number of 
proceedings have been conducted, this matter is still before the tribunal.   
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Designated Industrial Property Assessment 

To ensure some predictability for industry and municipalities, designated industrial properties are assessed 
based on regulations established under legislation and binding ministerial guidelines.  

Properties that fall under the definition of designated industrial properties include those regulated by the 
Alberta Energy Regulator, the Alberta Utilities Commission, or the Canadian Energy Regulator; and include 
wells, pipelines, electric power, telecommunications systems and railways, and major plants as designated by 
the regulations. The tax revenue from these industrial properties represents the major portion of revenue for 
some municipalities.  

The Provincial Assessor is responsible for preparing the assessments for designated industrial property, on 
behalf of municipalities. The Minister of Municipal Affairs, via the Provincial Assessor, is a party to the 
proceedings. 

The tribunal has been responsible for hearing complaints for designated industrial properties since 2017. 
The Matters Relating to Assessment Complaints Regulation under the Municipal Government Act requires 
tribunal members who do this work to take specialized training and be certified every three years.  

In the 2022-23 fiscal year, there were 24 designated industrial property complaints filed, representing 
approximately $18.2 billion in assessed value. Ten days of hearings were held in 2022-23, of which half were 
one-day hearings to deal with preliminary matters. The low volume of hearings can be attributed to 
postponements of previously scheduled hearings. It is important to note the requests for postponement are 
made by the parties, not the tribunal, often due to unavailability of counsel or expert witnesses.  

Additionally, 19 complaints were filed on multiple well sites, representing another $6.1 million in assessed 
value. These complaints were resolved by a policy change and did not go to hearing. 

One hundred and ten days of hearings are scheduled into the 2023-24 fiscal year, with an average of 15 days 
per hearing. Many of these scheduled hearings are postponed matters originally scheduled to take place in 
2022-23. These complaints represent $23.5 billion in assessed value. 

In the 2021-22, there were 19 complaints filed, representing approximately $16.5 billion in assessed value. In 
that year, there were 12 days of hearings. 

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic necessitated a major pivot for all involved parties, and the tribunal moved 
forward with 28 virtual hearing days. Several complaints were resolved through negotiations between the 
parties.  

Composite Assessment Review Board 

Sharing the tax burden equitably requires an assessment of the value of property. Property owners do not 
want to pay more than their fair share; however, municipalities rely on tax revenue to support the services 
they provide to all residents.  

For many years, property owners who wanted to challenge their annual assessment were required to go 
through two levels of appeal: first, to the local assessment review board, and second, to the former 
Municipal Government Board. Amendments to the Municipal Government Act in 2014 created a single board, 
streamlining the process. Appeals for commercial and multi-residential properties are now heard by a panel 
of one provincially appointed member of the tribunal acting as the presiding officer with two side panel 
members appointed by the local assessment board(s). Residential assessment appeals are heard by three 
municipally appointed members. 
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Matters heard by the Composite Appeal Review Board routinely determine the value of multimillion-dollar 
properties such as apartments, hotels, and strip malls, as well as facilities such as major office towers and 
shopping malls. Across the province, this represents billions of dollars of assessed value. 

In 2022-23, the tribunal provided presiding officers for 708 days of hearings across the province. 

While the tribunal is required to assign members to all scheduled hearings, the settlement rate will directly 
impact the number of hearings that proceed. If the parties settle prior to a scheduled hearing, the hearing 
will be cancelled. In Edmonton, the settlement rate remains relatively constant – around 45 to 50 per cent. 
In Calgary, the settlement rate reached almost 90 per cent in 2022. Settlements between the parties are the 
best-case scenario, as it allows them to resolve matters on their own terms and eliminates the requirement 
for a hearing, saving them time and money. Of the 1,404 days scheduled in 2022, 708 days of hearings were 
held. 

One challenge for the tribunal is that members must still be assigned to these hearings regardless of the 
possibility of a settlement, and this means they will not be available for other tribunal work. In response, the 
tribunal has cross-trained a number of members so they can handle written hearings under the Surface Rights 
Act as a backstop when assessment hearings are settled. 

Surface Rights 

Under common law, landowners and occupants of land had limited powers, as mineral owners had the 
unimpeded right to enter onto farm property, even if the land was destroyed or disturbed. To redress this 
inequity, the Surface Rights Act provides landowners and occupants the right to compensation for the loss of 
their land, while providing operators with a process that ensures their right to enter the land. When disputes 
arise, landowners and operators can file an application with the tribunal. After reviewing the evidence and 
arguments, it will issue a decision. These proceedings are not appeals; they are hearings meant to determine 
compensation for the interference and/or damage caused by operators.  

Given the legitimate but often competing interests of landowners and operators, these are highly 
contentious disputes. The tribunal provides a faster, less expensive, and more accessible forum to decide 
these issues than the courts. Although the tribunal deals with matters that vary widely in complexity, all 
decisions must be in writing. Hearings range from written proceedings before a single tribunal member to 
multi-week in-person/virtual proceedings before a five-member panel. 

In 2022-23, the tribunal received 5,207 surface rights applications and conducted 6,125 hearings, both 
written and virtual. 

Applications under the Surface Rights Act fall into two general categories:  
 

1) disputes between landowners and operators; and  

2) recovery of compensation.   

Disputes between Landowners and Operators  

The first category of applications proceeds to either an in-person or virtual hearing before a three-member 
panel. These matters are subject to at least two pre-hearing conferences conducted by members of the 
tribunal who specialize in alternative dispute resolution. While the pre-hearing process focuses the 
mechanics of the hearing such as scheduling and setting time limits for disclosure, this also provides the 
parties with an opportunity to discuss settlement.  
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For these applications, the tribunal has significantly outperformed the target timelines set by the members 
based on the complexity of the file. The target for routine files is 90 days. In 2022-23, 521 routine decisions 
were issued with an average time of six days. 

For files classified as complex, including matters such as review of compensation, costs, and certain 
preliminary matters, the target is 120 days to issue a decision. In 2022-23, the average time was 49 days. 

For precedent-setting files, no specific target is prescribed; the timing is set by the panel hearing the matter, 
as it is the most familiar with the facts and able to set realistic timelines. In 2022-23, these landmark 
decisions were issued, on average, within 109 days, falling under the target for complex decisions.  

Of particular interest are applications for review of annual compensation, which may be brought forward by 
either landowners or operators every five years. In 2022-23, the tribunal received 416 applications for a rate 
review, 195 of which were filed by operators. For comparison, there were 321 applications in 2021-22, 160 
of which were brought by operators. In 2020-21, there were 565 applications, more than half of which were 
brought forward by operators.  

Recovery of Compensation Applications 

The second category of applications includes recovery of compensation files filed under Section 36 of the 
Surface Rights Act. When an operator fails to make annual compensation payments, landowners have the right 
to apply for relief.  

Recovery of compensation files represent the tribunal’s greatest challenge in recent years for issuing timely 
decisions, due to the high volume of applications received. In 2015, the tribunal received 765 of these 
applications. The volume of these applications has increased sharply in recent years, due to the significant 
drop in commodity prices in 2016. The chart below demonstrates the volume of applications received under 
section 36 of the Surface Rights Act over the past three fiscal years. 
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The chart below shows the total compensation directed to landowners by the tribunal from 2020-21 to 

2022-23. 

 

The primary challenge associated with processing high volumes of recovery of compensation applications in 
a timely manner is having enough administrative staff to prepare applications for members’ review, and 
having enough members available to review, decide, and draft decisions. A common misconception is these 
applications are purely administrative in nature and can be easily reviewed and processed. Rather, these 
applications follow a multi-step quasi-judicial process where the tribunal is legislatively required to provide 
notice to the operator, accept party submissions, and issue written decisions and orders. The tribunal also 
completes a variety of publicly available searches such as corporate registry and land titles to verify the 
information in the application, which, on average, requires just under two hours of staff time on each file.  

Since 2016, when faced with exponential increase in application volumes, the tribunal had to re-evaluate and 
make fundamental changes to its processes, transitioning from a ‘case management’ approach processing 
one application at a time, to what is now an ‘assembly line’ approach starting with intake and screening and 
ending in member review and decision. Applications for recovery of compensation fall into two general 
categories: routine and complex. Approximately 80 per cent of the applications fall into the routine category 
as the applications are complete, no objections have been filed by operators and there are no complicating 
factors such as estate issues. In 2022-23, the time to issue decisions for these applications took between six 
and 12 months. The tribunal is continuing to take steps to reduce decision timelines on all matters, with a 
specific focus on recovery of compensation applications. With additional funding provided to the tribunal in 
Budget 2023 to recruit additional members, aggressively recruiting to vacant staffing positions, and 
continued modernization of its processes and technology, the tribunal anticipates issuing decisions for most 
routine, non-complex recovery of compensation applications within 90 days of filing by fall 2023.  

The remaining files – or ‘complex’ recovery of compensation applications – are more complicated because 
of a lack of evidence provided by the applicants, a unilateral rate reduction by the operator, or an objection 
filed by the operator. These applications require a considerable investment in time and human resources. 
Following a reallocation of resources to reviewing complex applications, the tribunal made significant 
progress on the backlog by issuing an unprecedented 835 complex decisions in 2022-23. The chart below 
demonstrates the increase in the number of complex recovery of compensation decisions issued under 
Section 36 of the Surface Rights Act by the tribunal from 2020-21 to 2022-23. 
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On the information technology front, enhancement of the Surface Rights E-file Portal has modernized the 
tribunal’s processes by allowing parties to submit applications online and monitor their application status. 
The tribunal is also implementing a new robotic process automation software, scheduled for spring 2023. 
Automating the processing of incoming emails from the tribunal’s recovery of compensation email account, 
which receives approximately 80 emails daily, will free up staff from the labour-intensive process of manual 
data entry, allowing them to address other areas of need. Plans are underway to expand the capabilities of 
the Surface Rights E-file Portal to automate routine searches, such as for ownership and operatorship, when 
an application is submitted. 

Another area that has seen a substantial increase in applications is ‘requests for reconsideration’ under 
section 29 of the Surface Rights Act, where the tribunal is asked to effectively appeal its own decisions. In 
2022-23, there were 78 such applications filed. This represents a large increase from 2020-21 and 2019-20 
when 48 and 18 applications were received respectively, but a decrease from 2021-22 when 118 applications 
were received. The backlog for these applications was eliminated in September 2022. 

Expropriation 

Expropriation is defined as the compulsory acquisition of land and property by the Crown. The object of 
the legislation is to make the expropriated owner economically whole, which may result in compensation for 
matters beyond the market value of the property, such as business disturbance and relocation costs. 

Where the expropriating authority is an agency other than the Government of Alberta or a municipality – 
such as an irrigation district, wastewater commission, or utility company – the tribunal decides whether the 
expropriation should proceed. If there is an objection, the tribunal will, after conducting an inquiry and 
receiving evidence, provide a written report as to whether the expropriation is fair, sound, and reasonably 
necessary to achieve the objectives of the expropriating authority. 

In all cases, if the parties cannot agree on compensation, the tribunal will decide based on a public hearing 
and the evidence presented by the parties. There is no limit on the amount of compensation claimed and 
multimillion-dollar claims are not unusual when business interests are concerned. The legislation also allows 
for recovery of reasonable legal, appraisal, and interest costs. 

Decisions by the tribunal are final unless overturned by the Court of Appeal.  
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In a leading case, the court described the process as nearly always resulting in a stressful experience for 
affected property owners. It is for this reason that mediation is such an important part of the service 
provided by the tribunal. Through mediation, the solution is agreed to by the property owner. In all matters 
where the parties agreed to mediation in 2021-22 and 2022-23, there was a 100 per cent success rate. 

Case management through the dispute resolution conference is also a critical part of the expropriation 
process, given the complexity and the magnitude of the claims being made.   

The volume of work increases when there is an increase in the number of infrastructure projects such as the 
building of roads, light-rail transit, flood mitigation and irrigation, or wastewater systems. 

In 2022-23, there were 44 new claims for compensation filed with the tribunal compared to 28 claims in 
2021-22, and 39 claims in 2020-21. The 2022-23 applications were the result of the Yellowhead Freeway 
Conversion Program in Edmonton, light-rail transit expansion projects in both Edmonton and Calgary, and 
various highway projects throughout Alberta. The total dollar value claimed with respect to 39 of the 44 
claims filed in 2022-23 exceeded $70.3 million compared to the total of $108.4 million in 2021-22, and 
$137.5 million in 2020-21. The five remaining applications did not indicate a dollar value for the property in 
question. Given the complexity of these matters, preliminary applications are a common feature. In 2022-23, 
there were nine Applications by Notice of Motion for preliminary matters filed with the tribunal. 

For matters that proceeded to hearing in 2022-23, there was one oral hearing held virtually for three days, 
for a claim valued at $393,750, and five hearings heard by way of written submissions. In 2022-23, there 
were 23 additional oral hearing days scheduled for four claims; however, the parties reached a settlement in 
these matters prior to the start of the scheduled hearings. 

The chart below shows the number of expropriation proceedings from 2018-19 to 2022-23. 
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Training 

Certification Training  

The Land and Property Rights Tribunal is solely responsible for providing training and certification to all 
members and clerks for all municipal assessment review boards across the province. The Municipal 
Government Act also mandates recertification every three years.  

In 2022-23, the tribunal held 43 assessment review board training sessions, involving 237 participants. An 
additional 36 participants registered for advanced training through the tribunal where no in-person training 
is provided (self-study). While tribunal members also take this training, they make up a small fraction of the 
participants.  

In 2020, the tribunal 
expanded its program to 
include certification training 
for members and clerks of 
subdivision and 
development appeals boards 
across the province. This 
certification is valid for 
three years, and 
recertification is required to 
maintain certification. 

In 2022-23, this amounted 
to 35 subdivision and 
development board training 
sessions, involving 135 
participants from 65 
different municipalities. 

Tribunal Member Training  

There are very few 
resources for members of 
administrative tribunals to 

learn the art of good judging and the few that are available are expensive or too general in nature. The 
tribunal, like the courts, has been forced to develop extensive in-house training for its members. Tribunal 
staff, with the assistance of experienced tribunal members and members of the judiciary provided 
approximately 60 internal training sessions in 2022-23. Courses include introductory training for new 
members, specialized training on the tribunal’s various application types, workshops and seminars, and 
targeted training for areas of work where the volume increased or specific issues arose.  

With the appointment of 12 new members in March 2023, the high volume of applications, and the 
complexity of the work, the demand for in-house training is expected to increase in 2023-24. While not 
every member will take all of the training, almost 50 separate internal training sessions are already planned 
for the coming year.  
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Performance Measure A: Percentage of parties who are satisfied or neutral regarding the tribunal’s 
adherence to rules of natural justice while adjudicating land planning, development, right of entry, 
compensation and assessment matters 

 
Note: The results are from surveying participants who appeared before the tribunal in the preceding fiscal year.  

 
The 2022-23 measure result (for the 2021-22 fiscal year) of 87 per cent is one percentage point below the 
target of 88 per cent.  

The achieved result of 87 per cent is slightly below the target and indicates stakeholders are about as satisfied 
with the tribunal’s appeal process as over the last four years. The survey focused on two general areas: 1) the 
hearing process, and 2) timeliness of the written decision. 

The most important measure of success is whether the parties who appear before the tribunal feel that they 
have been treated fairly. Anonymous feedback from independent third parties who were directly involved 
and impacted by the hearing process and decision has been determined to be the most effective method of 
measuring the tribunal’s performance. 

The surveys have two components: the first dealing with the hearing itself. 

Parties were overwhelmingly satisfied that the tribunal acted in a courteous manner (96 per cent); they were 
provided an opportunity to present their case (90 per cent); the hearing was conducted in a timely manner 
(90 per cent); and the hearing process was easy to understand (88 per cent). Parties were generally satisfied 
the hearing process was fair, unbiased, and impartial (83 per cent). 

The surveys also address the timeliness of issuance of the decision. The tribunal scored weakest on this 
component of the survey. Parties were generally satisfied that the written decision was issued in a timely 
manner (72 per cent). The actual result of 72 per cent is two percentage points higher than the previous 
result of 70 per cent in 2021-22. However, 72 per cent is a strong result compared to prior years. For 
comparison, the tribunal scored 18 percentage points lower on the written decision component in 2018-19 
with a result of 54 per cent. 
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In recent years, the tribunal has placed considerable emphasis on improving the timeliness of written 
decisions. This was accomplished by introducing target timelines for issuing written decisions and 
reallocating additional resources to areas experiencing high volumes of applications or appeals. 
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Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology 
 

Performance Measure 1.a: Red tape reduced across the ministry 
 

Prior Years’ Results 
2022-23 

Target 

2022-23 

Actual 2019-20  

Actual 

(target 5%) 

2020-21  

Actual 

(target 12%) 

2021-22 

Actual 

(target 20%) 

11.1% 25.3% 30.5% 33% 33.7% 

 

A baseline count of regulatory requirements in the Government of Alberta’s statutes, regulations, policies 
and forms as of May 1, 2019, was completed in February 2020. The baseline count is the benchmark used to 
measure annual reduction targets. 

As regulatory instruments are revised, added, or repealed, departments and agencies are required to update 
the count of regulatory requirements by counting and entering resulting net changes into the Regulatory 
Count Tracking Database, maintained by Treasury Board and Finance. This database is the official 
repository of regulatory count data. 

Source 
Regulatory requirements are counted in each regulatory instrument, including statutes, regulations, policies, 
and forms. Departments are required to enter ongoing updates into the Regulatory Count Tracking 
Database as their counts change. 

Performance Measure 2.a: Percentage of municipalities who have met or exceeded the minimum 
performance targets for financial and governance risk indicators 
 

Prior Years’ Results 
2022-23 

Target 

(2021) 

2022-23 

Actual 

(2021) 

2018-19  

(2017) 

2019-20  

(2018) 

2020-21  

(2019) 

2021-22  

(2020) 

93% 94% 94%1 95% 90% 92.5% 

Note: 1. Based on financial data submitted by 332 municipalities 

The percentage of municipalities who have met or exceeded the minimum performance targets for financial 
and governance risk indicators is based on information collected from:  
 
• audited financial statements;  

• municipal financial information returns; 

• local government election records in the Elections Database; and  
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• ministerial actions tracked in the Action Request Tracking System.  

The model assesses each municipality’s risk based on 13 indicators derived from the source data for each 
municipality. Each indicator has a defined trigger level; a municipality would either trigger or not trigger each 
indicator. The outcomes of all indicators are entered into the risk model. A municipality is deemed at risk if 
it triggers one of the two critical indicators, or three or more of the 11 non-critical indicators.  

The two critical indicators are: 1) legislatively permitted ministerial interventions, and 2) audit outcomes. 

Ministerial Interventions  

Ministerial interventions are triggered if any of the legislated ministerial actions, such as appointment of an 
official administrator, settlement of intermunicipal disputes, or initiation of a viability review, occurred in the 
given calendar year, or if a municipality is part of a multiyear ministerial process, such as the Minister setting 
the budget for a municipality due to a budget deficiency. This is confirmed through documentation in the 
Action Request Tracking System.  

Audit Outcome Indicators  

An audit outcome indicator is triggered if either a going concern or a denial of opinion is found in the 
municipality’s audited financial statements.  

The non-critical indicators include: 

• eight financial indicators calculated from the financial information provided by municipalities;  

• population change, based on the ministry’s annual population lists;  

• interest in municipal office, calculated from records in the Elections Database; and 

• on-time financial reporting, which is derived from the administrative tracking tables in the Municipal 
Financial Information System. 

A list of these indicators, the indicator descriptions, data sources, and calculations are detailed in a data 
dictionary.  

The percentage of municipalities deemed to be not at risk is the number of not-at-risk municipalities (“total 
number of municipalities included in the analysis” minus “the number of triggered municipalities”) divided 
by the total number of municipalities (included in the analysis) multiplied by 100.   

Calculation:  
 

% = (Total Number of Municipalities – Number of Triggered Municipalities) X 100 
Total Number of Municipalities 

 

Municipalities gather and report their information on a calendar year basis, so this information is not 
provided to the department until after the end of the Government of Alberta’s fiscal year. Results are for the 
calendar year with a one-year delay. For example, results for 2022-23 reflect the 2021 calendar year.  

Source 
Data Collection Processes 

The 2022-23 result reflects the 2021 calendar year (January 1 to December 31, 2021). The Municipal 
Government Act requires each municipality to prepare and submit annual audited financial statements and a 
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financial information return to Municipal Affairs by May 1 of each year for the previous financial (calendar) 
year. An independent auditor contracted by the municipality audits the financial statements. The financial 
statements are certified by the auditors and approved by the municipal council before submission to 
Municipal Affairs. The audit outcome indicator is based on the audit opinions given to the municipality by 
the municipality’s auditor. The audit opinion is part of the audited financial statements that municipalities are 
required to submit to the ministry annually.  

The financial information return is a standard set of year-end reports that capture detailed financial 
information for each municipality. Municipal Affairs provides a financial information return form for 
municipalities as a means to simplify data submission. The financial information return form must be 
certified by the organization’s signing authorities before the information is accepted by Municipal Affairs. 
The data from the forms is loaded into the ministry’s Municipal Financial Information System and populates 
the relevant tables in the system’s Oracle database.  

Municipal financial information returns use the Municipal Financial Information System, and data is 
gathered from the audited financial information returns received from all municipalities. The reporting 
period is a calendar year, and information is collected once a year (May to July) and reported annually.  

A set of manual and automated processes in the Municipal Financial Information System ensures the data is 
verified and validated; administrative dates are tracked; and a municipality’s financial reporting progress is 
monitored. Municipalities flagged with data anomalies receive followup phone calls and/or emails from 
Municipal Affairs staff, and the municipality may be asked to provide additional supporting documents 
and/or data corrections. 

The Elections Database is an online tool for municipalities to report candidate information, election results, 
and elected official information to Municipal Affairs. For each municipal election, the municipality is 
required to report the election information according to the specified timelines in the Local Authorities Election 
Act. Municipalities have the choice of entering the election information directly to the Elections Database or 
uploading the election information to the Elections Database by using pre-programmed loadable forms. The 
indicator – election candidates to positions ratio – is calculated based on the election information reported 
by the municipalities and stored in the Elections Database.   

Information is gathered every four years (for municipal general elections/summer village elections) and on 
an ongoing basis for byelections. Data is updated after every election but compiled annually (January). 

The Action Request Tracking System is an internal database that tracks formal correspondence entering and 
leaving the Government of Alberta. This database is updated daily as correspondence is received or ministry 
action is required. This review process and the outcomes are tracked using the system. If the Minister issues 
a Ministerial Order or initiates a process authorized under the Municipal Government Act, an approval 
document must be created. In addition to searching the Action Request Tracking System, the business unit 
performs a keyword search on the Ministerial Order listing document, which is maintained by the ministry’s 
Corporate Policy and Red Tape Reduction unit. If a signed approval document authorizing ministerial action 
against a municipality is found in the Action Request Tracking System or in the list maintained by the 
ministry for that year, the municipality is deemed to have triggered this indicator. Information on ministerial 
interventions is gathered from the Action Request Tracking System – specifically from ministerial 
correspondence provided to municipalities, where the Minister was required to take action. This information 
is gathered and reported on annually. 

Each year, Municipal Affairs publishes a population list of all Alberta municipalities based on the most 
recent municipal census or latest federal census. The list has municipal census population figures submitted 
to the ministry as of September 1 of the reporting year, in accordance with the Municipal Government Act. 
Conducting a municipal census is at the discretion of the municipality. Most municipalities rely on the 
information provided by the federal census prepared by Statistics Canada once every five years. 
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Municipalities that completed their own census used requirements specified in the Municipal Census 
Manual. In most instances, the municipal census count would supersede the federal census count.  

The Municipal Affairs Population List is gathered from population counts received from federal census or 
municipal census. Information is collected each November and reported annually by municipalities that 
complete a municipal census. 

Performance Measure 3.a: Number of injuries and fatalities caused by structural or mechanical 
failure of buildings and associated systems per 100,000 population in Alberta 

Prior Years’ Results 
2022-23 

(2022) 

Target 

2022-23 

(2022) 

Actual 

2018-19 

(2018)  

2019-20  

(2019) 

2020-21  

(2020) 

2021-22  

(2021) 

0.83 0.80 0.59 0.67 0.69 0.61 

*The target was met, as the calculation shows, however, there are known gaps in the fire data provided by some municipalities, 

and it is unclear how the actual result may be influenced. 

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified and determine which were 
caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety discipline is documented in detail to 
ensure consistency across disciplines and so it can be replicated in future years.  

Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by the total 
provincial population reported by Treasury Board and Finance. 

Number of Injuries and Fatalities X 100,000 

Provincial Population 

Source 
Data for this measure comes from a combination of:  

• incident reports by safety codes officers to the administrators for each discipline; and  

• population data from Treasury Board and Finance. 

Incident reports 

The Administrative Items Regulation, under the Safety Codes Act, sets out the reporting requirements for 
most safety disciplines. The National Building Code of Canada – Alberta Edition, sets out reporting 
requirements for the building discipline, and the Pressure Equipment Safety Regulation sets out reporting 
requirements for the pressure equipment discipline. Generally, safety codes officers are required to report 
incidents to their respective discipline’s technical Administrator, including events that result in injuries or 
fatalities. 

Population data 

Population figures were historically based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to the 
Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year). In 2019, it was determined that the municipal censuses 
would no longer be used. Following that decision, the population figures used for this measure were the 
most recent figures provided by Treasury Board and Finance. 
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A new Municipal Census Regulation came into effect in 2023. This provides rules for municipalities to 
conduct a census, which will be published as part of the Municipal Affairs Population List, and used to 
calculate measures such as this one.  

Performance Indicator 3.b: Number of injuries and fatalities involving buildings or associated 
systems not caused by structural or mechanical failure per 100,000 population in Alberta 
 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2022-25 Business Plan. 

Prior Years’ Results 

2022-23 

(2022) 
2018-2019 

(2018) 

2019-2020 

(2019)  

2020-2021 

(2020)  

2021-2022 

(2021) 

5.12 4.05 3.04 4.44 4.87* 

*There are known gaps in the fire data provided by some municipalities, which may influence this result. 

 

Ministry staff review incident reports with injuries and/or fatalities identified, and determine which were not 
caused by structural or mechanical failure. This rationale for each safety codes discipline is documented in 
detail to ensure consistency across disciplines and so that it can be replicated in future years.  

Ministry staff multiply the number of injuries and fatalities by 100,000, then divide that product by the total 
provincial population reported by Treasury Board and Finance. 

Number of Injuries and Fatalities X 100,000 

Provincial Population 

Source 
Data for this measure comes from a combination of:  

• incident reports from incidents reported by safety codes officers to the administrators for each 
discipline; and  

• population data from Treasury Board and Finance. 

Incident reports 

The Administrative Items Regulation, under the Safety Codes Act , sets out the reporting requirements for 
most safety disciplines. The National Building Code of Canada – Alberta Edition, sets out reporting 
requirements for the building discipline, and the Pressure Equipment Safety Regulation sets out reporting 
requirements for the pressure equipment discipline. Generally, safety codes officers are required to report 
incidents to their respective discipline’s technical Administrator, including events that result in injuries or 
fatalities. 

Population data 

Population figures were historically based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to the 
Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year). In 2019, it was determined that the municipal censuses 
would no longer be used. Following that decision, the population figures used for this measure were the 
most recent figures provided by Treasury Board and Finance.  
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A new Municipal Census Regulation came into effect in 2023. This provides rules for municipalities to 
conduct a census, which will be published as part of the Municipal Affairs Population List, and used to 
calculate measures such as this one.  

 

Performance Indicator 3.c: Number of fire reports not caused by structural or mechanical failure of 
buildings and associated systems, per 100,000 population in Alberta 
 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2022-25 Business Plan 

Prior Years’ Results 

2022-20223 

(2022) 
2018-2019 

(2018) 

2019-2020 

(2019)  

2020-2021 

(2020)  

2021-2022 

(2021) 

97.53* 78.59* 90.66* 125.86* 85.82 

* Note: Indicators from previous years are recalculated using the most up-to-date information on reported fires in the Fire 

Electronic Reporting System to capture corrections and late-arriving reports from previous years.  

Ministry staff determine the count of all fire reports entered in the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Fires 
where the act or omission is coded as being related to a mechanical or system failure are excluded from the 
total. 

Ministry staff multiply the number of fire reports by 100,000, then divide that product by the total provincial 
population reported by Treasury Board and Finance. 

Number of Fire Reports X 100,000 

Provincial Population 

Source 
Fire Reports 

The source of this data is the Fire Electronic Reporting System. Under Sections 8 and 9 of the 
Administrative Items Regulation, accredited municipalities are legislated to investigate and report all dollar 
loss and casualty fires to the fire commissioner. Safety codes officers in the fire discipline complete these 
reports. The system also receives fire reports from insurance adjusters.  

Where an unaccredited municipality has a loss or casualty fire, the ministry is the responsible entity for the 
fire investigation and subsequent report. 

Excerpt from Section 8 of the Administrative Items Regulation: 

Reporting and investigating fires 

8(1). Subject to subsection (2), if the responding officer of a fire department knows of a fire within the 
department’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers an injury that requires professional medical 
attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed, the reporting officer must report the fire to a safety 
codes officer for the fire discipline. 
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8(2). A safety codes officer for the fire discipline must investigate the cause, origin, and circumstances of 
every fire within the safety codes officer’s jurisdiction in which a person dies or suffers injury that requires 
professional medical attention or in which property is damaged or destroyed. 

8(3). This section does not apply to forest fires. 

While forest fires are exempt from investigation and reporting under the Administrative Items Regulation, 
property loss suffered as a result of a forest fire is reported to the ministry’s fire commissioner. 

Population data 

Population figures were historically based on the latest municipal or federal census counts reported to the 
Minister as of September 1 (of the calendar year). In 2019, it was determined that the municipal censuses 
would no longer be used. Following that decision, the population figures used for this measure were the 
most recent figures provided by Treasury Board and Finance.  

A new Municipal Census Regulation came into effect in 2023. This provides rules for municipalities to 
conduct a census, which will be published as part of the Municipal Affairs Population List, and used to 
calculate measures such as this one.  

Performance Measure A: Percentage of parties who are satisfied or neutral regarding the tribunal’s 
adherence to rules of natural justice while adjudicating land planning, development, right of entry, 
compensation and assessment matters 
 

NOTE: This metric did not appear in the 2021-24 Business Plan 

 

Prior Years’ Results 
2022-23  

Target 

2022-23  

Actual 2018-19   2019-20   2020-21  2021-22  

89% 96% 93% 86% 88% 87% 

 

The contact information for hearing participants is gathered by Land and Property Rights Tribunal staff to 
use for the survey. The scale used is a five-point, anchored satisfaction scale that asks respondents to 
respond with the following; strongly agree, somewhat agree, neither agree nor disagree, somewhat disagree, 
or strongly disagree. Those parties that attended hearings have an interest in the outcome of the hearing and 
the decision. 

Lists of attendees who attended hearings from April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2022 are compiled from the sign-
in sheets that are provided at in-person hearings, or from an attendance list for virtual hearings.  

Any parties who do not provide an email address are asked if they wish to participate, and told that if they 
would like to, they will need to provide an email address to preserve anonymity. 

In spring 2022, an email was sent to all parties asking them to complete the optional online survey. One 
reminder is sent two weeks after the first email to all parties that did not respond. 
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A neutral response is interpreted as satisfied, given that half of the parties appearing before the tribunal do 
not receive a decision in their favour. 

Source 
Hearing participant information is obtained from Land and Property Rights Tribunal’s internal database and 
from either sign-in sheets (in-person) or attendance lists (virtual) from hearings. The parties’ email 
information is put into Opinio and the survey is sent to parties via email. The survey was sent by tribunal 
staff in May and completed in June 2022, in order to capture all parties that attended hearings in 2021-22. 
(Note: there is a one-year lag for this performance measure. For the 2022-23 reporting period, the survey 
covers the 2021-22 fiscal year.) 

Opinio allows reports to be run from the survey responses and the reports are stored on an internal drive. 
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Financial Information 

 

Consolidated Financial Information  

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Reporting Entity and Method of Consolidation 
 
The financial information is prepared in accordance with the government’s stated accounting 
policies, which are based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
 
The reporting entity is the Ministry of Municipal Affairs for which the Minister of Municipal Affairs 
is accountable. The Government Organization Act defines a ministry as including the department 
and any provincial agency and crown-controlled organization for which the minister is 
responsible. The accounts of the ministry, which includes the Department of Municipal Affairs 
(Government Organization Act) and the Safety Codes Council (Safety Codes Act) are fully 
consolidated using the line-by-line method. 
 
Under this method, accounting policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to the 
government, and the results of each line item in their financial statements (revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities) are included in government's results. Revenue and expense, capital, 
investing and financing transactions, and related asset and liability balances between the 
consolidated entities have been eliminated. 
 
The audited financial statements for the Safety Codes Council are included in the ministry’s 
annual report as per requirement of the Safety Codes Act. 
 
The ministry is also responsible for the Improvement Districts’ Trust Account and Special Areas 
Trust Account; however, these entities’ activities are not consolidated in the financial information 
for the ministry. The statement of revenues and expenses of the Improvement Districts’ Trust 
Account are included separately in the ministry’s annual report as per requirement of the 
Municipal Government Act. The audited financial statements of the Special Areas Trust Account 
are also included in the ministry’s annual report as per requirement of the Special Areas Act. 
 
A list of the individual entities making up the ministry are shown on the “Management’s 
Responsibility for Reporting” statement included in this annual report.  
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Ministry Financial Highlights  
 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs  

Consolidated Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Consolidated Revenues and Expenses Highlights (unaudited) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands)  
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Breakdown of Consolidated Revenues (actual)  

Year ended March 31, 2023 
(unaudited)  
(in thousands) 

 
The following information presents detailed revenues of the ministry. The objective of detailed revenues disclosure is 
to provide information that is useful in understanding and assessing the financial impact of government's revenue 
raising and for enhancing legislative control. 
 

 
 

Federal Grant Programs 

 

• Federal Grant Programs were the largest source of Ministry revenue. These programs consisted of: 

Canada Community-Building Fund    $  254,831 

Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program           9,885 

               $  264,716 

 

Premiums, Fees and Licenses 

• The most significant sources of revenue in Premiums, Fees and Licenses are from the Safety Codes 
Council. 

– The Safety Codes Council collects operating fees from municipalities, agencies and corporations as well 

as certification, accreditation, appeals, and course fees. In 2022-23, fees totaled $15,161. 

Other Revenue 

• In 2022-23, the Ministry recorded $16,990, mostly due to Prior and Current Year Expenditure 
Recoveries.  

Other Revenue, $16,990, 5.6%

Investment Income, $524, 0.2%

Federal Grant 
Programs,

$264,716, 87.7%

Premiums, Licenses and
Fees, $19,513, 6.5%
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Consolidated Expenses – Directly Incurred by Object (actual) 

Year Ended March 31, 2023 

(Unaudited) 

(in thousands) 

The following information presents expenses of the ministry that were directly incurred by object. The objective of 
disclosure of expenses by object is to provide information that is useful in evaluating the economic impact of 
government acquiring or consuming various types of resources. 

 
 
 
The Ministry's largest operating expense was grants which totalled 92% of operating expense.  
 
The largest grant programs were as follows: 
 
Municipal Sustainability Initiative   $     515,000 
Canada Community-Building Fund Grants           254,356 
Library Services           31,229 
Grants in Place of Taxes           30,796 
Alberta Community Partnership           15,381 
Other           10,246 
 $     857,008  

Salaries, Wages and Employee 
Benefits
$49,257
5%

Supplies and Services and Other
$24,242
3%

Grants
$857,008
92%
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Supplemental Financial Information  
 

Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements  
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 

 
Year ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 
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Department of Municipal Affairs 
Schedule to Financial Statements       (Cont’d) 
Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs 
Trust and Other Funds Under Administration 

 
Year Ended March 31, 2023 
(Unaudited) 
(in thousands) 
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Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities  
 

Summary of Improvement Districts (unaudited)*  

Year ended December 31, 2022 
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*NOTE: The unaudited financial information being presented here 
was derived from the December 31, 2022 financial statements of each 
Improvement District.  
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Special Areas Trust Account 
Financial Statements (audited) 

Year ended December 31, 2022  
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Letter from Management 

 

 

 

  

[Original signed by]   [Original signed by] 
Chair, Special Areas Board  Director of Finance and Administration 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
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[Original signed by]  

W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D 
Auditor General   
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Statement of Financial Position 
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Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

  



 

Financial Information | Special Areas Trust Account 

 

 

 

114   Municipal Affairs | Annual Report 2022-23 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Schedule of Salaries and Benefits 
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Supplementary Accumulated Surplus Information Schedule 
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Schedule of Segment Revenue and Expense Disclosure by Object 
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Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets 
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[Original signed by KPMG]  
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[Original signed by] 

Jill Matthew, Director   Eóin J. Cooke, Director 
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Statement of Operations 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets  

 

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
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Annual Report Extracts and Other Statutory Reports 

Statement Regarding the Public Interest Disclosure Act 

 

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads: 
32(1) Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been made to the 

designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the Legislature for which the chief 
officer is responsible.  

    (2)  The report under subsection (1) must include the following information: 

(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of disclosures acted on 
and the number of disclosures not acted on by the designated officer;  

(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of disclosures; 

(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description of the 
wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective measures taken in relation to the 
wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective measure was taken. 

(3)  The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the department, public 
entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made publicly available. 

Below is a summary of the activity in the Public Interest Disclosure Office pertaining to the Department of 
Municipal Affairs from April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023: 

0 – Disclosures 

0 – Investigation 

0 – Investigations resulting in a finding of wrongdoing 
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